

REPORT SERIES IN AEROSOL SCIENCE N:o 173 (2015)

Generation, characterization and sizing of sub-3 nm nanoparticles and molecular clusters

Juha Kangasluoma

Division of Atmospheric Sciences Department of Physics Faculty of Science University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in auditorium D101, Gustaf Hällströmin katu 2, on September 16th, 2015, at 14 o'clock.

Helsinki 2015

Author's Address:	Department of Physics			
	P.O.Box 64			
	FI-00014 University of Helsinki			
	juha.kangasluoma@helsinki.fi			
Supervisors:	Professor Markku Kulmala, Ph.D.			
	Department of Physics			
	University of Helsinki			
	Professor Tuukka Petäjä, Ph.D.			
	Department of Physics			
	University of Helsinki			
	Professor Michel Attoui, Ph.D.			
	Department of Physics			
	University of Paris			
Reviewers:	Associate professor Jingkun Jiang, Ph.D.			
	School of Environment			
	Tsinghua University			
	Professor Jyrki Mäkelä, Ph.D.			
	Department of Physics			
	University of Tampere			
Opponent:	Professor Lin Wang, Ph.D.			
	Department of Environmental Science & Engineering			
	Fudan University			
	ISBN 978-952-7091-32-6 (printed version) ISSN 0784-3496			
	Helsinki 2015 Unigrafia Oy			
	ISBN 978-952-7091-33-3 (pdf version)			
	http://ethesis.helsinki.fi			
	Helsinki 2015			
	Helsingin yliopiston verkkojulkaisut			

Acknowledgements

The research for this thesis was done in the Division of Atmospheric Sciences in the Department of Physics at the University of Helsinki. I want to thank Prof. Hannu Koskinen for providing the working facilities at the department and Prof. Markku Kulmala for the opportunity to work at the division.

I want to thank my supervisors Prof. Markku Kulmala, Prof. Tuukka Petäjä and Prof. Michel Attoui. I am grateful for the funding and resources Markku has provided together with the compact and effective discussions on science topics. I want to thank Tuukka for the guidance and coordination, as well as keeping me busy inside and outside of the laboratory, from the beginning to the end of the thesis. For Michel I will be indebted for the hands on guidance in the laboratory, as well as for bringing the Rolls Royce of DMAs to the lab, and the always up-to-date knowledge and willingness to share it on aerosol instrumentation.

I wish to thank the masters of mass spectrometers, Prof. Douglas Worsnop for bringing the APi-TOF to Helsinki, and Dr. Heikki Junninen for the all the time he spent teaching me the secrets of the instrument.

Thanks for the current and former brave employees of Airmodus for cooperation and building the PSM, which was the kick-off for all the research conducted in this thesis.

Special thanks go to the technical staff of our division Dr. Pasi Aalto, DI Erkki Siivola and engineer Frans Korhonen for making my life during the thesis much easier and safer.

I wish to thank all the people in the measurement group for willingness to help and share knowledge, without you this thesis would not exist.

Finally my biggest gratitude goes to Henriikka Mäntylä for love and companionship.

Generation, characterization and sizing of sub-3 nm nanoparticles and molecular clusters

<u>Juha</u> Pekka Kangasluoma University of Helsinki, 2015

Abstract

Atmospheric aerosols exhibit the largest uncertainties in the radiative forcings of the Earth's climate. A large fraction of the uncertainties originates from the aerosol-cloud interactions, a process which is not understood completely. Understanding the processes related to aerosol formation and growth will help to narrow down these uncertainties and understand the anthropogenic fraction of the radiative forcings.

Atmospheric new particle formation creates a large fraction of the particles present in the atmosphere. To understand the process thoroughly, direct measurements of the particle concentration and chemical composition are needed. This need has pushed the instrument development forward, allowing measurements which were not possible five years ago: a direct measurement of the concentration and composition of sub-3 nm particles.

The purpose of this thesis was to develop methods to calibrate the instruments to reliably measure sub-3 nm particles. We developed an experimental setup to reproducibly generate well-characterized sub-3 nm particles in the laboratory, with the particular aim to characterize particle counters. During the course of the work the particle generation methods were modified to provide test aerosols smaller than 3 nm, of which chemical composition was monitored simultaneously with a mass spectrometer. Together with the modification of the generators, commercial fine particle counters were shown to be capable of sub-2 nm particle detection

Controlling the properties of the generated particles was found to be extremely important in the measurement of sub-3 nm particles. With the various test particles we studied the importance of the particle size, charging state and chemical composition on their detection, as well as the importance of the particle swas the most important factor determining the smallest detectable size in the sub-3 nm size range.

One of the particle counters, the Particle Size Magnifier (PSM) was characterized more in depth at low pressure conditions and various operation temperatures, providing in depth understanding on the instrument operation. The results provided key aspects on how the instrument should be operated in field experiments in order to obtain reliable data. In laboratory conditions the inversion routine of the particle PSM was experimentally verified against a high resolution differential mobility analyzer and an electrometer.

The results of this thesis provide basic knowledge on sub-3 nm particle generation and detection. The utilization of several generation techniques and test aerosols of different chemical composition, the operation of sub-3 nm particle detectors was improved along with a more in-depth understanding on the parameters governing the particle - vapor interactions. The laboratory instrumentation used in this thesis offer tools for chemical (composition) and physical (electrical mobility, charging state) characterization of the sub-3 nm particles. Overall this thesis improved the methods dealing with sub-3 nm particles from their generation to characterization, and to their detection. The methods are directly applicable to other fields of nanomaterial production and characterization, as well as environmental and industrial nanoparticle monitoring.

Keywords: sub-3 nm, cluster generation, particle counting, heterogeneous nucleation

Contents

1]	Introduction7				
2	Experimental methods					
	2.1		Aerosol generation 11			
	4	2.1.1	Tube furnace			
	2.1.2		Wire generator 12			
2.1.3		2.1.3	Electrospray 12			
	2.2]	Differential mobility analyzer13			
	2.3 Particle detectors		Particle detectors			
	4	2.3.1	CPC and PSM17			
	4	2.3.2	APi-TOF			
3]	Rest	lts and discussion			
	3.1	(Generation of aerosol particles for instrument calibrations in sizes below 3 nm 25			
		3.1.1	Characterization of charged particles 25			
		3.1.2	Characterization of neutral particles			
	3.2]	Parameters affecting the CPC detection efficiency			
		3.2.1	Particle size			
		3.2.2	27 Supersaturation			
		3.2.3	Pressure			
		3.2.4	Chemical composition of sample particles and condensing liquid			
		3.2.5	Charge			
		3.2.6	6 Relative humidity			
	3.3]	Implications to field measurements			
4	Review of papers and the author's contribution					
5	Conclusions 40					
Re	efer	ence	es			

List of publications

This thesis consists of an introductory review, followed by 5 research articles. In the introductory part, the papers are cited according to their roman numerals.

- I Kangasluoma, J., Junninen, H., Lehtipalo, K., Mikkilä, J., Vanhanen, J., Attoui, M., Sipilä, M., Worsnop, D., Kulmala, M., and Petäjä, T. (2013) Remarks on Ion Generation for CPC Detection Efficiency Studies in Sub-3-nm Size Range, *Aerosol Sci. Technol.*, 47, 556-563, Copyright 2013. Mount Laurel, NJ. Reprinted with permission.
- II Kangasluoma, J., Attoui, M., Junninen, J., Lehtipalo, K., Samodurov, A., Korhonen, F., Sarnela, S., Schmidt-Ott, A., Worsnop, D., Kulmala, M., Petäjä, T. (2015) Sizing of neutral sub 3 nm tungsten oxide clusters using Airmodus Particle Size Magnifier, *J. Aerosol Sci.*, 87, 53-62. Reprinted with permission.
- III Kangasluoma, J., Ahonen, L., Attoui, M., Vuollekoski, H., Kulmala, M., Petäjä, T., (2015) Sub-3 nm particle detection with commercial condenser TSI 3772 and Airmodus A20 fine condensation particle counters, *Aerosol Sci. Technol.*, 49, 674-681, Copyright 2015. Mount Laurel, NJ. Reprinted with permission.
- IV Kangasluoma, J., Kuang, C., Wimmer, D., Rissanen, M. P., Lehtipalo, K., Ehn, M., Worsnop, D. R., Wang, J., Kulmala, M., and Petäjä, T. (2014) Sub-3 nm particle size and composition dependent response of a nano-CPC battery, *Atmos. Meas. Technol.*, 7, 689-700. Reprinted under Creative Commons licence.
- V Kangasluoma, J., Franchin, A., Duplissy, J., Ahonen, L., Korhonen, F., Attoui, M., Mikkilä, J., Lehtipalo, K., Vanhanen, J., Kulmala, M., Petäjä, T. (2015) Operation of the Airmodus A11 nano Condensation Nucleus Counter at various inlet pressures, various operation temperatures and design of a new inlet system, *Atmos. Meas. Technol. Discuss.*, 8, 8483-8508, Reprinted under Creative Commons licence.

1 Introduction

In the broadest context, the motivation for this thesis comes from the need to understand our atmosphere, its connections to the biosphere and human actions, and need to be able to predict how the atmosphere is going to change in the future based on the observations. The climate of the Earth has varied through the history as long as it can be tracked back to (Hansen et al., 2007), but during that time nothing like human species has existed on Earth (Steffen et al., 2007). During the past 400 000 years, the atmospheric CO₂ concentration has correlated relatively well with the surface temperature (Barnola et al., 2003). However, within the last century or so, the CO₂ concentration has increased dramatically due to the anthropogenic emissions, although the surface temperature has not risen as much as one could expect from the historical CO₂ and temperature time series (IPCC, 2014).

The radiative forcing of the Earth describes the balance, or usually imbalance, of the incoming and outgoing energy to and from the Earth due to greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. CO_2 contributes to the radiative forcing by absorbing the outgoing long wave radiation and trapping heat into the atmosphere. Therefore, an increase in the CO_2 concentration will cause a positive radiative forcing to which the atmosphere responds by warming up. Aerosol particles (termed simply aerosols hereafter), which are solid or liquid particles suspended in the surrounding gas, are known to contribute to the radiative forcing of the Earth by directly scattering the incoming solar radiation back to the space, or through aerosol-cloud interactions. While being able to contribute to the climate system, especially anthropogenic aerosols have adverse effects on human health, for example by lowering, the life expectancy of Chinese people by more than 5 years in certain areas (Chen et al., 2013).

Both radiative forcing mechanisms of aerosols most probably cause a net negative radiative forcing, i.e. a cooling effect. However, the current sum of all radiative forcings, mostly due to greenhouse gases, is positive, leading to the warming of the climate. The highest relative and absolute uncertainties in the radiative forcings are for aerosol radiative forcings (IPCC, 2014). Understanding and narrowing down these uncertainties is a task worth doing, since if the true forcing of aerosols is close to zero, then the human caused temperature increase is likely to stay rather small. On the other hand, the larger the aerosols' role in the prevention of the temperature increase, the larger the climate change will be in the future, when human starts to appreciate, and reduce, the health problems caused by anthropogenic aerosols.

Aerosols in the atmosphere are from primary and secondary sources. Primary sources include particles coming from volcanic emissions, industry, traffic, wood burning and so on (McCormick et al., 1995;Hildemann et al., 1991;Weckwerth, 2001;Kleeman et al., 1999;Andreae and Rosenfeld, 2008;Wang et al., 2005;Koulouri et al., 2008). Secondary particle formation means formation of particles from gaseous compounds in the atmosphere. Nearly half of the observed atmospheric aerosols in the troposphere are estimated to originate from the secondary aerosol formation processes (Spracklen et al., 2010).

In suitable conditions, a small subset of gas phase compounds can form small clusters of molecules. These clusters can subsequently grow by vapor condensation to sizes large enough to affect the radiative forcing of the Earth (Kulmala et al., 2004;Pöschl et al., 2010;Ehn et al., 2014;Laaksonen et al., 2005). The incomplete understanding of the secondary particle formation from the first molecules and molecular clusters, their growth and optical properties, as well as their interaction with water, is a substantial source of uncertainty in the radiative forcing components of the atmosphere. In this thesis, we aim to provide understanding on the instrumentation to measure the number concentration of molecular clusters, and to probe their interactions with three different vapors.

Measuring the smallest molecular clusters is not a straightforward task. Current methods to measure the number concentration of nanoparticles are often based on condensational growth of the particles, followed by an optical detection (McMurry, 2000b). To begin the condensational growth, a high enough supersaturation of a vapor must be created around particles. Technology for growing and optically detecting the particles exists (McMurry, 2000a), but knowledge on surface – vapor interactions at very curved surfaces, such as the surfaces of the molecular clusters, is far from complete. Instruments based on measuring the electric current induced by the charge of particles are not well suited for atmospheric measurements in the sub-3 nm particle diameter range due to the low signal-to-noise ratio.

In laboratory, the first measurements utilizing the condensational growth of 3 nm ions in their detection were made by Bartz et al. (1985) and Scheibel and Porstendorfer (1986) with the low resolution instruments of that time. Later, more precise understanding of the quantities affecting the particle detection regarding the instrument design was shown by Stolzenburg and McMurry (1991), together with a design of the first commercial ultrafine Condensation Particle Counter (CPC). They demonstrated the importance of the particle sampling design in minimizing the diffusion losses of the particles, as well as how the volume and flows where the particle growth takes place should be designed. Seto et al. (1997) reported the first experiments on condensational growth of ions of approximately 1 nm in diameter. This observation led to further instrument designs and improvements, and research on growing small ions by condensation of vapor (Gamero-Castano and de la Mora, 2000;Kim et al., 2003). In the laboratory, with control over all the parameters governing the growth process, research has been conducted to understand the effect of particle composition (O'Dowd et al., 2004), condensing vapor composition (Iida et al., 2009), pressure (Hermann and Wiedensohler, 2001), ambient temperature (Quant et al., 1992) and relative humidity (Kangasluoma et al., 2013) on the operation of instruments able to detect sub-3 nm particles.

One of the first attempts to measure atmospheric sub-3 nm particle and cluster concentration was made by Kulmala et al. (2007b) with a combination of neutral air ion spectrometer (Manninen et al., 2009) and UF-proto CPC (Mordas et al., 2005). Later, similar research was published by Jiang et al. (2011b), who utilized a diethylene glycol CPC (Jiang et al., 2011a) in the same task together with a mass spectrometer, and by Sipilä et al. (2010) utilizing a particle size magnifier (PSM) (Vanhanen et al., 2011) in the detection of the sub-3 nm particles. After the work of Jiang et al. (2011b) and Sipilä et al. (2010), practically all atmospheric research on the sub-3 nm particle detection has been conducted with the instruments described by Vanhanen et al. (2011) and Jiang et al. (2011a), or a similar modification.

As noted for example by Iida et al. (2009) together with many others, the chemical composition of the particles must be taken into account when interpreting the data from sub-3 nm particle counters. This is due to the fact that the particle detection in a CPC strongly depends on the particle composition. They also noted that changes in the sample air relative humidity can affect the sub-3 nm particle detection with counters utilizing diethylene glycol.

After the pioneering experiments with the new generation of the particle counters, a significant amount of high profile research has been published (Kirkby et al., 2011;Almeida et al., 2013;Schobesberger et al., 2013a;Riccobono et al., 2014;Kulmala et

al., 2013;Ehn et al., 2014;Kulmala et al., 2012;Yu et al., 2012) on particle formation in the sub-3 nm size range, even if the exact calibration of the particle counters remains to be done. The uncertainties to be quantified are the effect of the particle chemical composition, charging state and sample flow relative humidity on the CPC activation efficiency, which should be solved for each experiment separately. Currently, the main obstacle in performing the CPC calibration is that the particle generation methods are insufficient. Even with a proper calibration of the CPC, uncertainties still remain in the data inversion (Lehtipalo et al., 2014), as no reference exists for the concentration measurement of neutral sub-3 nm nanoparticles.

In order to tackle the list of challenges presented above, the main objectives of this thesis are:

- 1) to build an experimental setup to generate sub-3 nm molecular clusters with a known composition, and without impurities, in a reproductive manner in atmospheric pressure (papers I, IV),
- 2) to verify sub-3 nm particle counters with the setup, and to understand the particlevapor interactions as a function of particle properties (size, composition, charge state) and vapor composition (papers I, II, III, IV), and
- 3) to utilize this knowledge to enhance the capabilities of the current CPCs in the measurement of sub-3 nm particles (all papers).

2 Experimental methods

In this thesis, all particle sizes are given as electrical mobility equivalent diameters. This is due to the fact that the differential mobility analyzer (DMA) is the only viable tool for mobility classifying and further analyzing the particles at the sub-3 nm size range. Electrical mobility is essentially given by the ability of a charged particle to move in an electric field in some medium. In our case, the electrical mobility of a particle is defined by its shape and charging state, as the pressure of the surrounding gas is assumed to be constant and the particle inertia insignificant. Therefore, an electrical mobility measurement does not include the particle mass. If the measured particle is an ideal sphere, the obtained electrical mobility diameter is equivalent to the geometric diameter. For sphere-like big particles this assumption is valid, but for small sub-3 nm particles it is not. The difference between mass and mobility diameter has been studied, for example, by Larriba et al. (2011). In our case, we limit our analysis to the electrical mobility equivalent diameter, on which the particle size classification is based on. This should be noted when interpreting, for example, the experiments on CPC particle detection efficiency as a function of size and chemical composition.

In the CPCs particles are exposed to a high supersaturation of vapor, and condensation of vapor onto the surface of the particles occurs. This process is called heterogeneous nucleation, or particle activation. Homogeneous nucleation of vapor occurs when supersaturated vapor forms liquid droplets without the presence of seed particles. Often in experiments, the variable of interest is the heterogeneous nucleation probability, or the activation efficiency, which are defined as the ratio of the grown particles and the total number of particles. Due to the efficient diffusion of the smallest particles, a fraction of the particles entering the instrument is lost to the inlet walls before reaching the volume of a high supersaturation. Likewise, the optical detector of a CPC might not count all the grown particles. By combining the sampling losses, activation efficiency and counting efficiency of the optical detector, one obtains the detection efficiency of an instrument. Detection efficiency is the parameter of interest in a CPC calibration.

When the detection efficiency is measured as function of the particle size, one obtains a cut-off curve for a CPC, where the cut-off diameter is defined as the diameter of a particle for which the detection efficiency is 50%. If the cut-curve was measured in a traceable manner, which includes traceable flow and current measurement in the reference electrometer, one would obtain a CPC calibration (Yli-Ojanperä et al., 2010).

The research conducted in the papers of this thesis utilized various methods in the generation, characterization and detection of small nanoparticles. These methods will be presented briefly in this section, which is divided into generation, sizing and particle detection sections. All the utilized instruments are known from the previous literature, but some of them have been modified, or have been operated under conditions different from the factory settings in order to optimize their operation at the sub-3 nm sizes. A general experimental setup is presented in Figure 1, with the color labeling how the papers of this thesis are related to the experimental setup. In the experiments of this thesis, the generated aerosol is charged if needed, size selected with a differential mobility analyzer, and finally the charged size-selected nanoparticles are detected and counted with some combination of the detectors.





Figure 1. A generalized experimental setup used in this thesis.

2.1 Aerosol generation

2.1.1 Tube furnace

Tube furnace as an aerosol generator has been introduced by Scheibel and Porstendörfer (1983). Compressed dry air or N_2 flows through a ceramic tube, which is heated up. The sample is placed on a ceramic boat, which is inside the tube, and the sample is thermally vaporized to the gas stream. The sample melting temperature defines the furnace temperature, which is often set to some degrees below the melting point, depending on the other experimental conditions. The gas cools down when the flow exits the furnace, and supersaturation of a vapor takes place and nanoparticles are formed.

Practically, it is possible to aerosolize almost any solid sample with this method. The starting materials used in this thesis were ammonium sulfate (papers I, IV and V), sodium chloride (papers I and IV) and silver (Paper I), commonly used samples in CPC calibrations (Wiedensohler et al., 1997;Petäjä et al., 2006;Jiang et al., 2011a;Wimmer et al., 2013). When the furnace was used to generate sub-3 nm particles, the only difference in the operation was that the flow rate inside the tube was 10 - 15 liters per minute (lpm), compared to the conventional flow of 1 - 5 lpm. A water bath was placed immediately downstream of the furnace tube to facilitate the phase transition from the gas phase to the solid phase. The purity of the samples and tube inner surface was an important factor in determining the final particle composition. Nitrate and organic contaminants were found to be clustered with the formed particles, by means of mass spectrometry, if the tube of the furnace was not cleaned well before use. Cleaning the tube with acetone, methanol and Milli-Q water, and heating it up to 1200 °C for several hours, resulted in the cleanest final particle composition.

2.1.2 Wire generator

A hot wire as nanoparticle source was introduced by Schmidt-Ott et al. (1980). A spring of thin metal wire, which is resistively heated up with high electric current, is placed into a hollow metal cross where gas stream passes by the wire. The hot surface of the wire emits vapor that rapidly cools down and forms nanoparticles into the surrounding gas. The only metal wire used in the experiments of this thesis was a tungsten wire (all papers). The restricting factor in choosing the wire material is vapor evaporation rate at the melting temperature of a particular metal, which is why, for example, gold is difficult to generate with this method. Successful experiments have been done at least with Ag, Fe, Be, Ni, Pt, Pd, W, Nb, Co and Zr wires (Peineke et al., 2006). The wire generator was selected as the particle source in paper II, since it provides a very stable source of sub-3 nm particles, part of which are self-charged. The formation of self-charged particles has already proven to be useful in the generation of charged sub-3 nm particles in the field conditions, enabling robust instrument verification at the sampling location. In paper II we studied the formation of self-charged clusters more deeply and provided an alternative explanation given earlier by Peineke and Schmidt-Ott (2008). They suggest electron emission from the wire surface as the provider of negative charge. Similarly, emission of K+ from the wire surface, which clusters with the neutral particles, provides positive charge for the particles. The formation of self-charged clusters is discussed more in section 3.1.1.

2.1.3 Electrospray

Electrospray is an instrument in which a sample is dissolved into a liquid, which is pushed at a high potential through a capillary needle. After exiting the capillary into a chamber, the liquid forms highly charged unipolar droplets in the surrounding electric field. Immediately after formation, solvent molecules start to evaporate from the droplets. Formation of charged sample molecules takes place via two mechanisms: after complete evaporation of the solvent charged residue of the sample is left or the charged sample molecules are emitted from the evaporating droplet.

Electrospray, together with a mass spectrometer, is a widely used tool in the field of chemistry. The basic requirements for successful ion generation with the electrospray are: the solvent liquid must be electrically conductive, and the sample must be dissolvable to the solvent. Common solvents include methanol, acetonitrile and 50/50 water and methanol. For his research on electrospray ionization combined to mass spectrometry, John Fenn was awarded the Nobel Prize (2002).

In this thesis, a home-made electrospray source was built, which was used in all the papers for generating big molecules of a known electrical mobility, especially tetraheptylammonium bromide (THABr (Ude and de la Mora, 2005)) positive monomer, $C_{28}H_{60}N+$ or THA+. This molecule was used to relate one DMA central electrode voltage to a known mobility, allowing the translation of the whole voltage range to electrical mobilities and electrical mobility equivalent diameters. In paper I, the electrosprayed ions were used to study the PSM detection efficiency. The utilized samples were other alkylhalides similar to THABr, and ionic liquids like 1-ethyl-3-methyl imidazolium tetraborofluoride (EMIBF₄, (Hogan and de la Mora, 2009)). In paper IV, electrospray was utilized to generate sucrose particles to provide another chemical composition of nanoparticles.

2.2 Differential mobility analyzer

Before any differential mobility analyzers (DMAs) existed, research on ions was mostly focused on mobilities of ions produced by X-rays (Thomson and Rutherford, 1896;Zeleny, 1898). Various innovative instruments were used to characterize and detect small air ions, as summarized by Flagan (1998). One of the many instrument designs, that by Zeleny (1900) already more than one hundred years ago, was close to the design of current mobility analyzers. It consisted of a cylindrical inner and outer electrode, of which the inner electrode was made of two separate pieces, the latter one being connected to an electrometer. With the instrument, Zeleny was able to measure mobilities of ions produced by X-rays. The main difference of Zeleny's instrument to the current DMAs was the second part of the inner electrode, which did not allow subsequent use and analysis of the ions. In 1921 Erikson (1921) presented the first true differential mobility analyzer. The geometry of the instrument was that of a parallel plate, where the bottom plate was divided into three sections and an electrometer, and the instrument was used to study ion aging.

The instrument of Erikson was modified for other experiments on air ions, and it took until 1957 when Hewitt (1957) published the first mobility analyzer, which closely resembles the current DMAs (schematic figure given in Figure 2): a flow with polydisperse particle population enters a gas stream from the edge of the outer electrode, and the charged particles start drifting according to their electrical mobility toward the inner electrode, as in Erikson's device. The major invention in the design of Hewitt was that a thin slit was placed at the end of the inner electrode, into which some of the charged particles drifted and were taken away as a monodisperse sample flow. Charged particles with too high electrical mobility drift too fast from the outer electrode to the inner one, and hit the central electrode before reaching the slit. Vice versa, the larger charged particles do not reach the slit, and are swept away by the sheath air flow. The charged particles of opposite electrical charge will be scavenged to the outer electrode. The instrument allowed for the first time subsequent analysis of size selected charged particles.

Later, another design of a DMA was built by Whitby (1966), which was accompanied with a charger and a detector to measure size distributions of atmospheric particles. It, however, did not have a slit at the end of the central electrode, but instead a collecting grid, which counted all particles being able to avoid hitting the central electrode. The instrument was thereby used to measure cumulative size distributions. The design became later the TSI model 3000 Whitby Aerosol Analyzer, with one downside: it weighed 182 kg. Due to its power of measuring size distributions, Liu et al. (1974) developed the next version with a weight of only 24 kg, but with the same functionalities, sold by TSI as the model 3030 Electrical Aerosol Analyzer. A year later Knutson and Whitby (1975) characterized a similar DMA as designed by Hewitt, which was to become the standard way of conducting particle mobility analysis, and to be used as a tool to generate size selected particles for instrument calibrations and verifications. Together with the experimental characterization of their DMA, a sound theoretical understanding on the DMA transfer function was provided. The transfer function "describes the probability that an aerosol particle which enters the mobility analyzer via the aerosol inlet will leave via the sampling flow, given that its mobility is Z_p " (Knutson and Whitby, 1975). Another successful DMA based on the Hewitt design was published by Winklmayr et al. (1991), which is widely used today. In the conventional DMAs the shape of the transfer function is triangle, of which the width is determined by the ratio of the aerosol flow rate and the sheath flow rate

(Stolzenburg and McMurry, 2008). The resolution of a DMA is given as the ratio of the transfer function peak voltage and full width at half maximum of the transfer function.

Conventional DMAs operate at sheath air flow rates of 3 - 28 lpm and aerosol flow rates of 1 - 5 lpm (Zhang et al., 1995;Birmili et al., 1997), which is not optimal for mobility classification of sub-3 nm particles. Low flow rates and not optimized geometry of the conventional DMAs lead to a wide transfer function at the sub-3 nm size range (Stolzenburg, 1988). Therefore, in recent years, much effort has been put to develop DMAs that are optimized for sub-3 nm mobility analysis, including the designs published by Steiner et al. (2010);de la Mora and Kozlowski (2013);Santos et al. (2009);Brunelli et al. (2009) and Herrmann et al. (2000). Of these, the Herrmann-type DMA (Herrmann et al., 2000) was used in all of the papers of this thesis, and the half-mini type (de la Mora and Kozlowski, 2013) was used in paper IV.

The Herrmann-type DMA is a high resolution DMA, which utilizes extremely high sheath air flow rates (~300 - 1000 lpm) to achieve high resolution with a rather low transmission in the sub-3 nm size range. As the exact sheath air flow rate of the Herrmann type DMA is not known due to the lack of high flow rate measurement in our laboratory, the voltage axis is always converted to mobility axis by generating THA+ ion and measuring its peak voltage. Since the mobility of the generated ion is known, it allows the conversion from electrode voltage to electrical mobility. The theory of the cylindrical DMAs does not apply for the high resolution cylindrical DMAs, since the flow profile is not parabolic as in conventional low flow rate DMAs.

Achieving the high resolution with the low transmission is a reasonable trade-off in laboratory experiments, since usually the particle generators produce high enough particle concentration to be detected downstream of the DMA. From some samples, the high resolution allows selection of perfectly monomobile particles, like for example the DMA calibration ion THA+. Monodisperse particles further allow particle detector characterizations as a function of size, such as measurement of transmission, detection probability, particle fragmentation inside the instruments, and so on.

In this thesis an air-tight, closed sheath flow loop high resolution DMA setup was built around the Herrmann type DMA. It is presented in Figure 3, which is adopted from paper I. By closing the loop of the DMA, the sheath air flow recirculates and is eventually replaced by the entering gas (Jokinen and Mäkelä, 1997). A high-efficiency particulate arrestance (HEPA) filter connected to the sheath air loop removes all particles from the sheath air flow, and the flow is kept at the room temperature with a heat exchanger. Importantly, the closed loop keeps the relative humidity of the sheath air flow, and the outgoing sample flow, at the same level as of the aerosol flow, which is challenging to accomplish with an open loop sheath air flow. Since the relative humidity of the aerosol flow often in the laboratory experiments is close to zero, also the monodisperse sample flow is dry. The effect of the relative humidity on the particle detection is discussed in later sections. The closed loop DMA setup was built on a table with wheels, which helped in the construction and modification of the experimental setups. Overall, the high resolution DMA was as important part of the thesis as the particle generators and detectors.



Figure 2. Schematic figure of a differential mobility analyzer. Aerosol flow (Q_a) enters the DMA from the edge of the grounded outer electrode parallel to the sheath flow (Q_s). In the size selection regime of length L and width R_2 - R_1 , the negative/positive particles drift toward the inner electrode at potential +/-U. Particles of a certain electrical mobility will exit the DMA together with the sample flow (Q_s). The rest of the flow exits the DMA as exhaust flow (Q_{ex}).



Figure 3. The experimental setup presented in paper I. Three different aerosol generators were used: a wire generator (top), a tube furnace (middle) and an electrospray (bottom). The generated particles were charged before entering the high resolution Herrmann type DMA. The closed sheath air flow loop DMA was built around the Herrmann DMA. From the DMA the sample was split to the electrometer, the APi-TOF and the PSM. The PSM detection efficiency as a function of test aerosol chemical composition was studied.

2.3 Particle detectors

Particle detectors used in this thesis can be separated into a mass spectrometer (Junninen et al., 2010) and single particle counters (Vanhanen et al., 2011;Kuang et al., 2012;Iida et al., 2008;Stolzenburg and McMurry, 1991).

2.3.1 CPC and PSM

Condensation particle counters (CPCs) are the backbone of aerosol research. History of the CPCs is given by McMurry (2000a), and another historical review on the work of Coulier and Aitken is given by Spurny (2000). In our review, we examine the work related to development of CPCs, which are capable of detecting particles smaller than 3 nm. In the review we refer to a CPC as often done nowadays, even if at the time of the research was conducted, the instruments had many different acronyms.

The first CPC experiments were conducted by Coulier (Coulier, 1875a, b) and Aitken (Aitken, 1880b, a), and further continued by Wilson (Wilson, 1897). These first CPCs were expansion type instruments always operated with the water vapor of the sample flow. In the expansion type instruments, a known volume is expanded to achieve supersaturation of working fluid. The grown droplets were detected with naked eye due to lack of optical technology. Already the first expansion type CPCs were able to detect sub-3 nm particles, since they were able to activate and grow ions produced by the X-rays, as well as produce homogeneously formed droplets from water. However, due to the lack of a proper 3 nm particle source, Kurten et al. (2005) were the first to show 3 nm particle detection with an expansion type CPC. Another commonly used method for creating supersaturation, mixing of warm flow that is saturated with vapor with another cooler flow, was invented in Russia by Kogan and Burnasheva (1960). The method was initially used to produce homogeneously formed droplets. Kousaka et al. (1982) built probably the first mixing CPC capable of sub-3 nm particle detection, however, with experiments only down to 6 nm. After Okuyama brought the mixing CPC technology to America and Yale, de la Mora and his coworkers focused their research on small ion activation and various designs of the PSM. The latest push to commercialize and make the mixing CPC technology, and the PSM as research instrument available for everyone, was made in Finland. The work of Bricard et al. (1976) showed the first laminar type diffusion based CPC that operated with an alcohol as condensing liquid. The design of their instrument is still in use in current laminar CPCs. It took until 1991, when Stolzenburg and McMurry (1991) optimized a laminar CPC down to sub-3 nm particle detection with a proper calibration setup, data analysis and inversion.

Many reviews and reports on calibration workshop results have been published during the last 20 years. Bartz et al. (1985) report results from the first CPC workshop where the smallest possible particles were tried to be detected. Wiedensohler et al. (1994) report a comparison of four ultrafine particle sizing systems: ultrafine DMPS, ultrafine diffusion battery, pulse height ultrafine CPC and temperature scanning by an ultrafine CPC. Sem (2002) gives an extensive review on the TSI butanol CPCs 3010, 3020 and 3025, in which results from many different experiments are collected. Hermann et al. (2007) show results on a TSI CPC calibration workshop, where most of the TSI CPC models are calibrated. Similar TSI CPC comparison is given by Mordas et al. (2008). Wimmer et al. (2013) and Kangasluoma et al. (2014) give the latest results of ultrafine of CPC calibration workshops. As part of this thesis, a broader review of sub-3 nm particle detection is given.

Before aerosol sizing instrumentation was available, most CPC calibration experiments were conducted against the Pollak counter (Pollak and Daly, 1957), which was thought to give a reliable number concentration measurement. Many experiments were focused to measure atmospheric particle number concentration, whereas laboratory experiments were made at the limit of homogeneous droplet formation or ion induced nucleation. Therefore, it may have been thought that the counters can count all the particles above the Kelvin diameter at the supersaturation slightly below the limit of homogeneous nucleation. The Kelvin diameter gives the theoretical prediction for the smallest particle size that can be grown by a certain liquid without the presence of homogeneous droplet formation. The Kelvin diameter does not take into account the properties of the particle, like its solubility. For most of the liquids that can be considered as a CPC working liquid, the Kelvin diameter is from 2 to 4 nm (Iida et al., 2009).

The first note on the size dependency of a CPC detection efficiency was published by Liu and Kim (1977), and a year later by Porstendörfer and Soderholm (1978). Liu and Kim calibrated their GE CPC against an electrometer with atomized and heated NaCl particles, which were size classified by a DMA. Porstendörfer and Söderholm generated small fairly monodisperse silver and gold particles with a boiler, and size selected them with a diffusion battery. A clear size dependency was found in the detection efficiency between particles of 10 nm and 30 nm, and the obtained values were much lower than for an atmospheric particle sample. Both groups concluded that it is difficult to use a CPC to measure the particle concentration of an unknown size distribution.

The finding of Porstendörfer and Soderholm (1978) and Liu and Kim (1977) initiated research deeper into the operation and design of various CPCs. Thanks to the introduction of a DMA and an electrometer, a standard calibration setup for a CPC (Knutson and Whitby, 1975) it was possible probe and optimize various parameters of the CPCs. The key inventions in the calibration setup were two methods to generate ultrafine particles, which were heating of material in a tubular furnace (Scheibel and Porstendörfer, 1983), and atomization of material and subsequent evaporation and condensation (Bartz et al., 1987), as well as the first DMA to size select particles (Liu and Pui 1975, Knutson and Whitby 1975).

These tools were put to work by Bartz et al. (1985), who published the first results from an ultrafine CPC calibration workshop, in which four different CPCs (expansion CPC by Niesser, TSI 3020 by Argaval, CCU CPC by Stolzenburg and McMurry and MTU CPC by Kousaka) were optimized for ultrafine particle detection. The MTU and CCU CPCs showed the detection efficiency of 0.6 and 0.83, respectively, for 3 nm sodium chloride particles. The workshop clearly demonstrated the importance of the instrument design in sampling and detection of sub-3 nm particles. In 1984, another significant instrument design was published, when Okuyama et al. (1984) published their design of a mixing type CPC, a particle size magnifier (PSM), and its activation of particles down to 6 nm. Lack of suitable calibration setup, however, hindered the success of the Okuyama PSM, until the year of 1997.

Probably the main milestone in the detection of sub-3 nm particles was reached in 1991, when Stolzenburg and McMurry (1991) published their ultrafine CPC, modified from the TSI 3020. It was the prototype of the ultrafine CPCs TSI 3025A and 3776. The instrument design included various improvements to the previous laminar CPCs, including optimized inlet with two core sampling probes together with a condenser with sheath air flow, which was originally introduced by Wilson et al. (1983). The inlet has a high transport flow of 1.5 lpm, from which 0.3 lpm is extracted by core sampling. The flow is subsequently brought into a small capillary leading to the condenser, which extracts another 0.03 lpm (in 3025A) from the middle of the flow. The rest is filtered and taken to the saturator, and finally brought back to the condenser around the capillary as the sheath air flow. A major fraction of the diffusion losses, which can be determined theoretically, occur in the capillary needle. The condenser design takes advantage of the fact that the peak supersaturation is located in the middle of the condenser by feeding the sample to the center line. Other milestones of their research were the reasonable agreement of a theoretical

model of the CPC detection efficiency in comparison to the experiments, and detailed handling of the data, leading to the final detection efficiency values.

Soon after the publication of the ultrafine CPC, an independent calibration of the TSI 3025A with similar results as Stolzenburg and McMurry (1991) was published by Kesten et al. (1991). The first modification to the 3025A was published during the same year, when McDermott et al. (1991) showed the operation of the CPC with a fluorinated liquid, optimized flow configuration and condenser design. The modification resulted in detection efficiencies closer to unity compared with the previous operation conditions. Additionally, McDermott et al. (1991) showed the particle sizing capability of the modified CPC between 3 and 10 nm by scanning the condenser temperature.

The method of McDermott, and other methods for sizing low concentrations of ultrafine particles, was compared by Wiedensohler et al. (1994). The comparison included the modified 3025A with white light optics for the pulse height analysis of the final droplet size, published later by Saros et al. (1996). The pulse height analysis relies on the fact that the final droplet diameter of a grown particle is dependent on the initial particles size. The smaller the particle, the closer towards the end of the 3025A condenser it activates and starts to grow, therefore has less time to grow. This results in an observation that the smaller the initial particle, the smaller the final droplet will be. The white light scattered from the droplets is dependent on the droplet size, allowing thereby the sizing of the initial particle size. Saros et al. (1996) concluded that the pulse height analysis is applicable for various operation conditions and particle compositions, as long as a pulse height reference from the bigger ambient particles is available. Weber et al. (1998) presented data inversion for the pulse height distributions.

After the work of Stolzenburg and McMurry (1991), the next improvement in the operation of laminar type CPCs toward sub-3 nm particle detection was made by Mertes et al. (1995) and Wiedensohler et al. (1997). They showed that by increasing the temperature difference between the condenser and the saturator of the TSI 3010, it is possible to detected particles down to 4 nm and 2.5 nm, respectively. These results showed that even the conventional fine CPCs are capable of detecting very small particles. The particle detection is mostly limited by sampling losses, non-uniform saturation field and, at that time, by the lack of suitable sub-3 nm particle generation setups. With a reasonable sub-3 nm particle source, Kangasluoma et al. (2015a) showed that the commercial fine CPCs are capable of even sub-1.5 nm particle detection.

The first time when a CPC capable of detecting sub-2 nm ions met a high resolution DMA with an appropriate particle generator (electrospray) was when the PSM of Okuyama was applied by Seto et al. (1997). The working fluid of the PSM used by Seto was dibutyl phthalate (DBP). The experimental setup was applied for investigating the ion induced nucleation, especially the sign preference, as DPB was found to favor the activation of positive ions only. A similar sign preference has also been found by Okuyama et al. (1991) and Adachi et al. (1992) for DBP. The author of this thesis remarks that in the experimental research of that time, not much attention was paid to the chemical composition of the ions, which was later shown to tremendously affect the activation of small ions (O'Dowd et al., 2004;Petäjä et al., 2006;Kangasluoma et al., 2014).

Further improvement to the PSM design from Yale University was made by Gamero-Castano and de la Mora (2000, 2002), accompanied with a calibration setup consisting of an electrospray and a high resolution DMA. Their improvement included a reheater of the saturator flow between the saturator and the mixing section, which minimized the working fluid loss before the mixing section and, therefore, allowed more accurate estimation of the fluid supersaturation in the mixing zone. The reheater also prevented

the working fluid from nucleating homogeneously before the mixing section, further allowing most of the vapor to condense heterogeneously onto the sample particles in the mixing section. The experimental setup of Gamero (Gamero-Castano and de la Mora, 2000) provided a setup to investigate the activation of various ions by DBP. They showed that when the sample particles are small enough, the activation probability does not depend on the particle size anymore. This feature has been predicted by the theory (de la Mora, 2011), but to date still has not been confirmed by other experimental researchers. Gamero also illustrates how the PSM can be used at different levels of supersaturation to obtain insights on heterogeneous nucleation.

Kim et al. (2002) presents another version of the PSM, which was conveniently able to detect 3 nm particles activated by ethylene glycol. Ethylene glycol was selected as the working fluid based on its low vapor pressure and harmlessness. New in their work was the extensive probing of the PSM operation below normal atmospheric pressure. The performance was found not to change dramatically at pressures down to 200 torr, enabling the PSM design to be used at high altitudes. Kim et al. (2003) published another version of the PSM, which was based on the modifications made by Sgro and de la Mora (2004). It is the simplest version of the PSMs published so far, with only one aerosol injection tube and T-shaped mixing chamber. This PSM was characterized to detect sub-2 nm particles, with remarks on ion induced nucleation. Ethylene glycol was found to prefer nucleation on negative ions. One year later Sgro and de la Mora (2004) published their version of the PSM, in which the new aerosol injection design improved the penetration of the smallest particles. This PSM was found to be capable of activating 1.7 nm (electrical equivalent mobility diameter) ions at 100% efficiency.

The aim of the previous mixing CPCs was to detect particles as small as possible. For measurements where the sample concentration varies rapidly, the response time of the CPC is an important factor. The response time was optimized by Wang et al. (2002) in their fast mixing CPC. By having a 0.65 lpm flow through the detector with fast response time, the CPC is an ideal detector in particle sizing systems with scan time even down to 1 s.

Three more independently developed mixing CPCs are by Mavliev and Wang (2000) and Mavliev (2002), which operated with DBP as working fluid and was capable of activating 3 nm particles. Ito et al. (2011) published a PSM which was operated with ethylene glycol as working fluid, and Kim et al. (2015) studied the temperature dependence of heterogeneous nucleation with their PSM operated with DEG as working fluid.

The first water based laminar CPC was designed by Hering et al. (2005). It exploits the high diffusivity of water by first cooling down the sample flow and subsequently heating it up in the condenser with water wetted walls. This design was commercialized as the TSI model 3785 fine particle counter, with cut-off diameter somewhere between 4 to 30 nm depending on the test aerosol composition (Petäjä et al., 2006). Later, the water CPC was modified by adding a similar condenser sheath flow design as in the 3025A. The design of the ultrafine water CPC was characterized by Iida et al. (2008) and Mordas et al. (2008).

The work with the water CPCs showed that the CPC response is sensitive to the composition of the sampled aerosol particles. Similarly, as noted by O'Dowd et al. (2004), the chemical composition of the test aerosol will affect the pulse height distributions of the droplets grown by butanol. Therefore, it became evident that the composition of the test particles will have a significant effect on the CPC cut-off diameter. Indeed, the composition dependent cut-off diameter has been used in instruments, the purpose of which is to infer information about the chemical composition of atmospheric aerosol (Kulmala et al.,

2007a;Kangasluoma et al., 2014). The idea is based on the fact that two CPCs with two different working fluids can be tuned for identical performance in activating insoluble calibration aerosol particles, while the other CPC being able to activate smaller particles, which are soluble to its working fluid. Practically, for example when a butanol and a water based CPC are tuned to exhibit a similar cut-off curve for insoluble silver particles, the water based CPC can activate smaller particles of NaCl than the butanol CPC due to solubility effects.

In 2005 an expansion CPC was developed, which was the first time when the detection efficiency of an expansion CPC was characterized down to 3 nm by Kurten et al. (2005). Their CPC utilized an optical detector based on Mie scattering developed by Wagner (1985), which follows the size evolution of the growing droplets with a high time resolution. The detection method provides information on the supersaturation, and is an absolute concentration measurement. Furthermore, it allows separation of homogeneous and heterogeneous nucleation. An expansion CPC built by the Vienna group, the so-called size analyzing nuclei counter (SANC), utilizes the same sophisticated optics by Wagner (1985). Starting from the year 2008, the Vienna group has published a variety of experimental studies on heterogeneous nucleation. Winkler et al. (2008b) showed that CPCs can be made sensitive to 1.4 nm particles without the presence of homogeneous nucleation when operated with n-propanol. They further used their expansion CPC to show that npropanol prefers the activation of negative ions over positive ions, for the first time taking into account also the size selected neutral particles (Winkler et al., 2008a). Other notable research by the Vienna group are their findings on the critical cluster size (Winkler et al., 2012), building of the mobile SANC (Pinterich, 2015) and other publications on heterogeneous nucleation (Winkler et al., 2011;Kupc et al., 2013).

After the high resolution DMA technology reached the groups of Helsinki and Minneapolis, the next steps of sub-3 nm CPC development were taken in the development of the laminar CPCs. Sipilä et al. (2008) and Sipilä et al. (2009) modified their version of a pulse height CPC from the TSI 3025A, which was operated at supersaturation high enough to produce homogeneously formed droplets. They noticed that homogeneously formed droplets grow to smaller final droplet sizes than heterogeneously formed, which can be separated in the pulse height analysis. Sipilä and coworkers applied this technology to measure small neutral ambient clusters. Their interest in atmospheric new particle formation soon after led to another design of the Okuyama PSM, the design again close to the one made by Sgro and de la Mora (2004). The PSM was for the first time applied in chamber measurements in Leipzig together with the pulse height CPC (Sipilä et al., 2010), and commercialized by Airmodus (Vanhanen et al., 2011) (Figure 4), sold today as the Airmodus A11 nano Condensation Nuclei Counter (nCNC).

Meanwhile, the group of Minneapolis began their second wave of sub-3 nm CPC development with the work of Iida et al. (2009), who theoretically studied hundreds of different liquids, and concluded that diethylene glycol was the best one to be used as a CPC working fluid. This was due to the low vapor pressure and high surface tension, together with the fact that it is odorless and harmless. Their theoretical prediction was in a sound agreement with the experiments, which were conducted with a modified TSI 3025A. The main modification to the CPC was that the optical counter was removed, and another TSI fine CPC was placed instead to count the particles that did not grow inside the 3025A to optically detectable sizes. Based on the work of Iida et al. (2009), Jiang et al. (2011a) used the modified TSI 3025A, operated with DEG, as a detector in a particle sizing system to observe atmospheric new particle formation (Jiang et al., 2011b). With similar modifications to the 3025A, Kuang et al. (2012) boosted their DEG 3025A further by

modifying the flow configuration, mainly by changing the aerosol and condenser flow rates. Wimmer et al. (2013) modified two TSI 3025As in similar fashion as Jiang et al. (2011a) and Kuang et al. (2012), and verified the instruments together with the two first PSMs by Airmodus. All these modified DEG CPCs were shown to have the cut-off diameter below 2 nm for negative sodium chloride particles and other substances, without the presence of homogeneously formed droplets(Jiang et al., 2011a;Kuang et al., 2012).

The most recent work on understanding and extending the operation of the CPCs was conducted as a part of this thesis, first by applying a mass spectrometer to measure the composition of the test particles, as well as showing more accurately the sample flow humidity dependence of the heterogeneous nucleation by DEG (Kangasluoma et al., 2013) (Paper I). We explained the apparent sign preference of DEG to negatively charged particles, as often positively charged particles were contaminated by organic molecules (Paper II). These conclusions were further supported in the following paper (Kangasluoma et al., 2014) (Paper IV), where four different ultrafine CPCs were boosted to the limit of homogeneous nucleation, and verified with seven different test particles. DEG and water activated more easily inorganic salt particles than organic particles. Furthermore, our research contributes to the size distribution measurements of neutral sub-3 nm particles by showing the accuracy of the PSM measurement and inversion against a high resolution DMA and electrometer (Kangasluoma et al., 2015b) (Paper II). In spite of the strong composition dependency of the PSM detection efficiency, with a sound calibration it was shown to reliably measure size distributions of neutral sub-3 nm tungsten oxide clusters. Our next paper continued the work of Mertes et al. (1995) and Wiedensohler et al. (1997) by boosting two fine CPCs to their maximum supersaturation and showing their capability of detecting sub-1.5 nm charged particles with an efficiency comparable to the ultrafine TSI 3776 (Kangasluoma et al., 2015a) (Paper III). Finally, in the last paper of this thesis, we inspected technical details of the PSM of Vanhanen, namely its response to various inlet pressures, various inlet temperatures, the effect of temperature settings on the whole operation of the instrument, as well as we present an inlet line system optimized for sub-3 nm particle sampling (Kangasluoma et al., 2015c) (Paper V).

The PSM (Airmodus A10) used in this thesis is shown in Figure 4. The flow through the saturator (0.1 - 1 lpm) is saturated with DEG. A 2.5 lpm sample flow is mixed with the saturator flow in the mixing section, and subsequently brought to the growth tube. The temperature of the saturator is usually between 70 °C and 90 °C, the inlet temperature is between 0 °C and 40 °C, and the growth tube temperature is between 0 °C and 10 °C, depending on the experiment. The particles grow up to approximately 90 nm in the growth tube, and are subsequently detected with another fine CPC. This arrangement of the Airmodus A10 PSM and A20 CPC is the A11 nCNC.



Figure 4. A schematic figure of the Airmodus A10 Particle Size Magnifier (from Vanhanen et al. 2011). The grown particles which exit the PSM are counted with the Airmodus A20 butanol CPC. The combination of the A10 PSM and A20 CPC is called Airmodus A11 nCNC.

2.3.2 APi-TOF

Particle chemical composition is an important parameter determining heterogeneous nucleation probability. In this work, the mass and chemical composition of the sub-3 nm particles was measured with an Atmospheric Pressure interface Time Of Flight mass spectrometer, APi-TOF (Junninen et al., 2010). The instrument is ideal for the experiments, since the sample particles can be generated and fed to the mass spectrometer directly from the atmospheric pressure. The pressure is reduced in four sections from the ambient pressure down to ~10e⁻⁶ mbar. The ions are guided with two quadrupoles and ion lenses to the time of flight chamber (Figure 5). In the time of flight chamber, all ions receive an equal kinetic energy from a high frequency electric field. Since the kinetic energy is proportional to the mass and square of the velocity, particles of different mass obtain different velocities. The flight distance is known in the chamber; therefore the measured flight time of a charged particle can be converted to a mass-to-charge ratio.

The design of the instrument allows an approximate transmission between 0.1% and 0.5% depending on the inlet tuning, and mass resolution of 5000 (Junninen et al., 2010). This mass resolution is sufficient for separating molecules of the same integer mass but different exact mass, the difference being termed as mass defect. Due to the binding energies in the core of the atoms, for example tungsten oxide charged with OH-, WO₃OH-, exhibits an exact mass of 248.939 atomic mass units (amu) giving the mass defect 248.939 amu - 249 amu = -0.061 amu. At 249 amu the full width at half maximum (FWHM) with resolution 5000 is 0.05 amu, allowing clear separation of the tungsten oxide clusters from others. Combined with the mass defect, the isotopic pattern of the particles reveal in most cases the exact molecular formula of the observed peaks in the mass spectrum. In papers I, II and IV, the APi-TOF played a crucial role in verifying the sample aerosol composition and in the development of particle generators.



Figure 5. A schematic figure of the Atmospheric Pressure interface Time Of Flight mass spectrometer (taken from Junninen et al. (2010)).

3 Results and discussion

3.1 Generation of aerosol particles for instrument calibrations in sizes below 3 nm

3.1.1 Characterization of charged particles

Since sulfuric acid is known to be an important part of atmospheric new particle formation (Sipilä et al., 2010;Kuang et al., 2008;Lovejoy et al., 2004), ammonium sulfate was selected as a starting material for the first experiments with the tube furnace. The composition of the formed, and subsequently charged, clusters was found to be mostly bisulfate in the smallest negative clusters. The composition of the formed clusters and particles was given by the formula $(HSO_4)_x(NH_3)_ySO_4$ - (Figure 6). Bisulfate tetramer was the first cluster where ammonia was observed, and in the 10-mer the maximum signal was observed for a cluster with 2 ammonia molecules. In positive clusters, however, the x/yratio was close to unity and the charge giving molecule was NH₄+. An example of a positive ammonium bisulfate cluster is (HSO₄)₅(NH₃)₅NH₄+. Ammonium bisulfate particles produced in the furnace were found to be a usable source of clusters, with a reasonable stability and reproducibility for the calibration experiments. In similar way, sodium chloride particles were generated from the furnace, exhibiting the cluster composition of the negative polarity. and the $(NaCl)_{x}(C_{4}H_{10}O_{3})_{0-1}Cl$ in composition of $(NaCl)_{x}(C_{4}H_{10}O_{3})_{0-6}Na+$ in the positive polarity. The larger number of impurities in the positive polarity could explain some of the differences in the observed activation efficiencies reported previously by Kuang et al. (2012).

A spring made of tungsten wire heated up with high electric current produced negative self-charged particles given by the formula $(WO_3)_xOH$ -, with possibly some organic impurities in the clusters. The wire generator was the most convenient source of sub-3 nm particles used in this thesis, since it produced self-charged particles with a single charge, and well-defined and easily reproducible particle chemical composition with the size range starting from 1 nm in mobility diameter up to tens of nanometers. In paper II we studied the mechanism of self-charging, which was found to be the formation of OH- radicals in the system (Peineke and Schmidt-Ott, 2008). This conclusion was drawn from the fact that most of the neutral WO₃ clusters were charged with OH-. Most probably the heat of the wire decomposes some impurities of the carrier gas, which leads to the formation of OHradicals and other positive yet not identified ions. These positive ions are in fact observed already before any tungsten oxide forms as positive self-charged (contaminant) ions. Figure 6 compiles the mass and mobility spectrum of the three samples used in paper I.

Silver particles were generated with the furnace, as silver is a very common test aerosol in CPC calibrations (Scheibel and Porstendörfer, 1983;Wiedensohler et al., 1997;Sipilä et al., 2009;Iida et al., 2009). Some clean silver clusters were observed, for example Ag_{17} - and Ag_{19} -, but most of the clusters were silver clustered with some unidentified organic molecules. With the current instrumentation, there is room for improvement in generating pure silver clusters. In other experiments not reported here, the generation of silver clusters was attempted with the wire generator and spark generator without success.



Figure 6. Combined mass and mobility spectrum of three samples generated in paper I.

3.1.2 Characterization of neutral particles

The composition of the neutral clusters produced with the wire generator and tungsten wire was probed by charging the neutral clusters with a ²⁴¹Am source or nitrate chemical ionization inlet in front of the APi-TOF. Tungsten oxide was found to cluster with various negative ions, the most abundant being tungsten oxide clustered with nitrate monomer (NO₃-) or dimer (HNO₃NO₃-). The overall conclusion was that tungsten oxide was almost always observed (WO₃- was observed too) to be clustered with some other ion, which gives the charge in negative polarity, strongly suggesting that the neutral clusters are made of pure tungsten oxide (Paper II).

3.2 Parameters affecting the CPC detection efficiency

The vapor pressure over a flat surface is different from the vapor pressure over a curved surface, which is described by the Kelvin equation (Thomson, 1871):

$$ln\frac{p}{p_0} = \frac{2\gamma V}{r_{RT}}$$

Here p is the vapor pressure, p_0 is the saturation vapor pressure, γ is the surface tension, V is the molar volume of the liquid, R is the universal gas constant, r is the radius of the droplet, and T is temperature. In practice the equation implies that the smaller the particle, the higher the supersaturation, which is required to condense vapor onto the surface of the particle. The critical vapor pressure is defined as the vapor pressure at which homogeneous nucleation of vapor starts to occur. By limiting the vapor pressure to the critical vapor

pressure, one obtains the Kelvin diameter from the Kelvin equation. The Kelvin diameter is the smallest particle diameter that can be activated without homogeneous nucleation of the vapor taking place, according to the Kelvin equation.

In a laminar type CPC, the sample flow is saturated with a working fluid in the saturator. Since the saturation vapor pressure is a function of the temperature, the sample flow becomes supersaturated after being cooled in the condenser. Other methods to supersaturate a gas flow have been discussed in the previous sections. The larger the temperature difference between the temperature where sample flow saturation and cooling down occurs, the smaller the particle size which can be grown to optically detectable sizes. It is known, that particle activation can happen below the Kelvin diameter. Winkler et al. (2012) suggest that particles adsorb vapor onto their surface enough to grow to the Kelvin limit, after which condensational growth of the particles occur.

The absolute pressure in a CPC can affect the activation efficiency. By lowering the pressure in the condenser, the thermal cooling is increased, but at the same time the vapor depletion onto the walls is increased, as shown by Zhang and Liu (1990). This feature has been experimentally confirmed by Hermann and Wiedensohler (2001): the decreasing pressure improves the performance of a CPC by lowering the cut-off size. At pressure around 20 kPa and lower pressures, the cut-off size starts to increase again.

The particle chemical composition has been shown to influence the CPC cut-off diameter. In the heterogeneous nucleation theory (Winkler et al., 2008a) the only parameter describing the effect of particle chemical composition on the nucleation probability is the contact angle. The contact angle describes the angle between the particle surface and forming liquid droplet. A complete wettability is described with a contact angle of 0° and no wetting with an angle of 180°. Therefore, for example water is expected to have a small contact angle on NaCl surface. If the particle is charged, the charge will lower the critical cluster size of the forming droplet. In practice, a charged particle will activate at a smaller supersaturation than an equally-sized neutral particle (Paper II).

3.2.1 Particle size

It is known that the smaller the particle, the smaller the probability that heterogeneous nucleation of vapor onto the particle surface occurs. Activation of the sampled particles as a function of their size was measured in all the papers of this thesis, and no exceptions were found to the previous statement. The activation efficiency was observed to increase always with the increasing particle size, with constant particle chemical composition. The effect of the particle chemical composition on the activation probability will be discussed more in a later section (3.2.4).

3.2.2 Supersaturation

In paper III, we investigate how small particles the fine CPCs TSI 3772 and Airmodus A20 can detect by varying the operation temperatures and the inlet flow rate. Previously a similar CPC has been reported to be able to detect 2.5 nm particles without the presence of homogeneously nucleated droplets (Mertes et al., 1995). Similar experiments with smaller particles have been lacking, probably due to the limited access to sub-3 nm particles and the introduction of the ultrafine CPC (Stolzenburg and McMurry, 1991). With the two CPCs, we set the saturator temperatures to 46 °C and 47 °C, respectively, and condenser temperatures to 10 °C. At these settings, the CPCs were at the brink of homogeneous nu-

cleation, with an operational definition as approximately 1 count min⁻¹. The response of the CPCs as a function of the particle size was measured with negative tungsten oxide particles together with the ultrafine TSI 3776 and Airmodus A11, providing a comparison (Figure 7). The performance of the fine CPCs down to 1.5 nm was reasonably good, given that they were originally not optimized for the sub-3 nm particle detection. By setting the temperature difference to the maximum allowed by the firmware, the CPCs were sensitive even to the smallest 1.1 nm clusters. The ultrafine CPCs perform better compared with the fine CPCs due to minimized losses with the instrument design.

In paper V, we show that although the PSM (Vanhanen et al. 2011) was thought to be a mixing CPC, the activation of the particles actually takes place in the growth tube, not in the mixing zone. As predicted by Vanhanen et al. (2011), the peak supersaturation should occur when the saturator flow rate is set to 0.3 lpm, in spite of the fact that their experiments showed an increasing supersaturation until saturator flow rate of 1 lpm. This discrepancy was due to the fact that the supersaturation was calculated for mixing zone, while the supersaturation was higher in the growth tube. Figures 8 and 9 present two size dependent detection efficiency experiments with the PSM operated in the mixing and in the laminar mode. In these experiments the PSM detection efficiency was measured as a function of the particle size for negative bisulfate particles with the following temperature settings: saturator temperatures were 76 °C and 85 °C, inlet temperatures were 0 °C and 35 °C, and growth tube temperatures were 40 °C and 0 °C, which are the mixing mode and laminar mode settings, respectively.

The results showed that in the mixing mode the highest particle detection and supersaturation is in the mixing zone, whereas in the laminar mode the maximum supersaturation takes place in the growth tube. When the PSM was operated in the mixing mode, the maximum detection efficiency was at the saturator flow rate that Vanhanen et al. (2011) had predicted. The shape of the detection efficiency curves in the growth tube activation mode is better suited for the data inversion, which is why the PSM should be still operated as it is now in laminar mode.



Figure 7. The detection efficiency of the TSI 3772 and Airmodus A20 with tuned temperature settings as a function of particle size for negative tungsten oxide particles. Similar measurement for the ultrafine TSI 3776 and Airmodus A11 is presented for a comparison.



Figure 8. The detection efficiency of the PSM as a function of saturator flow with mixing type temperature settings determined for negative ammonium bisulfate particles. The temperatures in the PSM were set to: saturator 76 °C, inlet 0 °C and growth tube 40 °C. The PSM operated as a mixing type CPC, since the highest supersaturation was in the mixing region, where the particle activation occurred.



Figure 9. The detection efficiency of the PSM as a function of saturator flow with laminar type settings for negative ammonium bisulfate particles. The PSM temperatures were set to: saturator 85 °C, inlet 35 °C and growth tube 0 °C. The PSM was operated as a laminar type CPC, since the highest supersaturation was in the growth tube, where the particle activation occurred.

3.2.3 Pressure

The PSM and the CPC with it have been operated at low pressure altitudes like mountain tops and onboard air planes (Kivekas et al., 2009;Schobesberger et al., 2013b;Andreae et al., 2004;Minikin et al., 2003). Therefore, the A11 was tested in under pressure conditions in paper V. Figure 10 shows the response of the A11 for 50 nm ammonium sulfate particles at varying inlet pressure. The dilution ratio inside the PSM does not change significantly due to the changing volume flows rates. The error in the measured concentration due to the changing dilution factor is rather small compared with the error coming from the CPC under counting at low pressure, as shown in Figure 10. The PSM cut-off, however, does not change significantly due to the changing pressure (Figure 11).



Figure 10. The response of the A11 nCNC (PSM and CPC) to 50 nm ammonium sulfate particles at various inlet pressures. All data was scaled to unity at normal pressure to only study the effect of the inlet pressure. The main source of uncertainty in the detection efficiency originates from the CPC counting efficiency.



Figure 11. The change of the PSM cut-off for negative tungsten oxide due to pressure. All data was scaled to unity at normal pressure to only study the effect of changing pressure. The effect of the pressure to the PSM cut-off diameter is almost negligible.

3.2.4 Chemical composition of sample particles and condensing liquid

As found for example by Kulmala et al. (2007a) and Petäjä et al. (2006), a water CPC exhibits various cut-off diameters for particles of different chemical composition, whereas the cut-off diameter of a butanol CPC shows much smaller variation with varying particle composition (Paper IV) (Giechaskiel et al., 2011). In our paper I, we found a very similar behavior for the activation of particles by DEG vapor as compared with the water vapor: a clear affinity to ammonium sulfate and sodium chloride particles opposed to larger cut-off diameters for silver particles and other organic contaminants. Based on the mass spectrum of the silver particles, at least part of the difference in the cut-off diameter for example compared to sodium chloride is explainable by organic molecules which are clustered with silver particles.

Paper IV describes a more throughout activation efficiency experiments for four different ultrafine CPCs operated with three different working fluids. The motivation of the study was to operate all of them as detectors in a particle sizing system. All the operation temperatures of the CPCs were set to as close as possible to the limit of homogeneous nucleation to maximize the detection of the smallest particles without background counts from homogeneously formed droplets. DEG showed a similar affinity to inorganic salt particles as in paper I judged from the measured cut-off diameters, and less affinity to organic particles. Similar behavior was observed for water vapor. Particle activation with

butanol vapor, on the other hand, was the least dependent on the seed particle composition. All measured cut-off diameters from the experiments are presented in Table 1. Based on Table 1, we find approximately a 1 - 1.5 nm difference in the cut-off diameter when examining a constant condensing vapor and varying seed composition. A smaller, approximately 0.8 nm difference in the cut-off diameter was observed when having a constant seed composition but a varying working fluid. From these two numbers we can conclude that the seed particle surface plays a bigger role in the particle activation than the composition of the condensing liquid or, in the examined size range, the seed particle size. The observed dependency of the activation efficiency on the seed particle chemical composition verified the use of the four CPCs as a detector in a particle sizing system to obtain chemical information in the size range of 2 to 3 nm.

	DEG- CPC	PSM	3025A	3786
Ammonium bisulphate-	1.52	1.41	1.83	1.73
Ammonium bisulphate+	1.52	1.49	1.84	1.67
Sodium chloride-	1.39	1.42	1.73	1.44
Sodium chloride+	1.72	1.71	3.09	1.78
Tungsten oxide-	1.52	1.50	1.76	2.07
Tungsten oxide+	1.65	1.65	1.77	2.16
Sucrose-	1.83	1.86	1.87	2.04
Sucrose+	1.80	1.82	1.83	2.03
Limonene ozonolysis products-	2.65	2.64	2.63	2.70
Limonene ozonolysis products+	1.79	1.69	1.74	2.27
Candle flame products-	1.22	1.02	1.47	1.75
Candle flame products+	1.79	1.69	1.74	2.27

Table 1. A compilation of measured cut-off diameters (mobility diameter [nm]) for four different ultrafine CPCs in paper IV.

3.2.5 Charge

The role of particle charge in new particle formation and heterogeneous nucleation in the atmosphere and laboratory has remained unsolved with some contradicting publications (Kirkby et al., 2011;Kulmala et al., 2013;Winkler et al., 2008a;Yu, 2010). In our paper II

we repeated similar experiment as conducted by Winkler et al. (2008a): a particle of known size and charging state was generated, and the particle was exposed to varying supersaturation. The supersaturation was varied so that at the lowest supersaturation no activation of the test particles took place, and at the highest supersaturation 100% of the particles were activated. By comparing the 50% activation supersaturations, one can obtain insight about the role of charge of a particle during heterogeneous nucleation. For the experiment we selected 1.6 nm tungsten oxide particles.

To generate size selected neutral particles, we built an ion drift tube, from which unipolar small ions generated by a radioactive source were guided to the sample flow. The ions were guided against a 0.2 lpm counter flow with an electric field, and mixed with the sample flow in a mixing chamber. (Paper II). These small ions were observed to neutralize a fraction of the sample particles. The remaining charged particles and ions were removed with an ion filter upstream of the PSM to study only the activation of the neutral particles. The result of the experiment is presented in Figure 12. The difference in the activation efficiency between negative particles and neutralized negative particles is rather similar compared to the difference between positive particles and neutralized positive particles. The difference of 1 - 2 °C in the saturator temperature translates into a charge enhancement of approximately 0.1 nm in the cut-off diameter due to the positive or negative charge. A similar result, reported by Winkler et al. (2008a), showed only one curve for neutral particles, thus not giving a complete view on the sign preference of heterogeneous nucleation, which certainly requires an experimental revision.

The particles that are multiply charged can create an artifact for a lower activation efficiency, since the electrometer counts two particles for one doubly charged particle, and their mobility is higher than the mobility of a singly charged particle. This is a possible problem when generating particles with the electrospray, since most particles are charged and the bigger ones are often multiply charged. Those large, multiply charged particles can overlap with the smaller generated ions due to a similar electrical mobility. Singly and multiply charged particles can be mixed in the detector signal, especially if the resolution of the DMA is not high enough.



Figure 12. PSM activation efficiency for 1.6 nm tungsten oxide particles of various charge states as a function of the saturator temperature (a trace for supersaturation). The difference in the activation efficiency between the charged and neutral particles translates into approximately 0.1 nm difference in cut-off diameter.

3.2.6 Relative humidity

In paper I an experiment was conducted to probe the observed inconsistencies in the detection efficiency experiments with the open loop DMA and the PSM. The hypothesis was that the sample carrier gas composition changes the activation efficiency of the PSM via multicomponent nucleation. To test the hypothesis, the sample flow relative humidity was controlled by diluting the sample flow with another flow, of which relative humidity was controlled. The dilution was done upstream of the DMA to stabilize also the sheath flow loop into a constant relative humidity. At four different relative humidities the cut-off diameter of the PSM was measured for negative bisulfate particles. Similarly, the THABr sample flow was humidified and the detection efficiency of the PSM was probed as a function of the relative humidity. The result of this experiment is shown in Figure 13. At ambient temperature of approximately 20 °C when relative humidity increased from 0 to 36%, the cut-off diameter of the PSM decreased approximately from 1.5 to 1.2 nm.



Figure 13. The PSM cut-off diameters measured for negative ammonium sulfate particles, and THABr monomer and dimer detection efficiency measured at varying sample air relative humidity. The PSM detection efficiency increases with increasing relative humidity.

3.3 Implications to field measurements

In the laboratory the wire generator provides a source of small particles with a semicontinuous size distribution to characterize and optimize the APi-TOF inlet. The wire generator has proven to be a robust enough generator to be taken to the field campaigns. It provides a stable source of sub-3 nm particles, which can be used to verify the operation of either the PSM or the APi-TOF at the field site. With some characterization on the operation of the wire generator with ambient air as carrier gas, the source would provide a nice solution to the field verification of the PSM in ambient relative humidity.

The performance of the tuned conventional CPCs does not revolutionize the atmospheric nucleation studies, but they offer a relatively cheap detector for measuring sub-3 nm particles, especially for laboratories without the ultrafine CPC. More importantly from the author's point of view, the results suggest that the performance of the CPCs is mostly limited by the particle losses inside the instrument. This observation strongly suggests that there is still room for improvement in the design of the current ultrafine CPCs.

The finding that the PSM is a laminar type CPC, and understanding the mixing type activation, explains the odd concentration data as a function of the saturator flow rate measured in some of the field campaigns. If the ingoing sample air is cold, it increases the temperature difference between the inlet and saturator, increasing also the supersaturation in the mixing zone. Since the supersaturation in the mixing zone peaks at saturator flow rate of 0.3 lpm, while the supersaturation in the growth tube peaks at saturator flow rate of

1 lpm (or higher), the scanning of the saturator flow rate from 0.1 to 1 lpm does not yield a monotonically increasing supersaturation scan. The peak in the middle of the supersaturation scan makes it challenging to invert the concentration data of that part of the scan. In practice, the previous problem can be now avoided up to some limit by increasing the inlet temperature to 40 °C, which is the firmware maximum, setting the growth tube temperature to as small as possible (1 °C firmware minimum), and adjusting the saturator temperature so that a suitable supersaturation is reached. With the previous method the supersaturation in the mixing zone is minimized, and the loss of data in the middle of the scan can be avoided.

The design of the sampling line described in the paper V will help to minimize the particle losses and uncertainty in the measured concentration of the PSM. The automatic zero measurement will help to follow the concentration of homogeneously nucleated droplets that is found to be a good trace for the activation efficiency of the PSM. With the automated zero measurement it is possible to remotely operate the PSM. The on/off ion filter allows the measurement of the size classified sub-3 nm charged fraction of the particles with the PSM. The results from the under pressure experiments confirm that the PSM can be operated in low pressure environments, provided that the CPC counting efficiency correction is taken into account.

In paper IV, we studied the effect of chemical composition with three different working fluids: DEG, water and butanol. The results showed the affinity of DEG to inorganic salt particles while less affinity compared to organic particles. This finding has strong implications on how the PSM (and other CPCs operated with DEG) should be operated in the field experiments. If the sample particles are expected to be freshly nucleated organic particles, the PSM should be operated at supersaturations high enough to yield a homogeneously nucleated background concentration of 10-100 cm⁻³ at largest saturator flow rate. At this high supersaturation the PSM should be capable of activating a fraction of the smallest sub-2 nm particles. On the other hand, if for example measurement of pure sulfuric acid particles is expected, the good operating supersaturation for the PSM is at the brink of the homogeneous nucleation at the highest saturator flow. Despite the efforts of this thesis, the final solution on how to operate the PSM in the field and obtain always comparable data is still lacking.

Since the decrease in the PSM cut-off diameter due to particle charge was found to be only approximately 0.1 nm, the uncertainty due to that in the measured size classified concentration is rather small compared to uncertainty due to particle composition. More generally this can be neglected, except when making laboratory experiments which require an absolute accuracy.

The fact that the relative humidity of the sample flow changes the operation of the PSM makes some of the ambient measurements complicated. The problem arises especially when the size distribution of the ambient particles has a large gradient as a function of the size, which is usually the case when atmospheric nucleation takes place. In principle, the problem is that if during one day a certain size classified concentration is measured, and on the next day lower size classified concentration is measured, then without the knowledge on the humidity effect one cannot know whether the lower concentration was due to lower real concentration or due to a lower PSM detection efficiency. In other experiments not reported here, we found that the homogeneously nucleated background concentration is a reasonable trace for the activation efficiency. The first solution to this challenge is to periodically measure the PSM background concentration, and adjust the saturator temperature so that the background concentration stays approximately constant. This way of operation has given the first consistent time series, but there is an urge to automate

it completely. Another solution could be a redesign of the instrument operation parameters, which would minimize the water content in the growth tube.

4 Review of papers and the author's contribution

Paper I In the first paper we described an experimental setup to produce sub-3 nm particles of known composition down to mobility diameter of 1 nm. The paper shows how the organic impurities in the sample particles can change the PSM detection efficiency. The importance of the closed sheath flow loop DMA in the experiments was studied by varying the relative humidity of the sample flow. The sample flow relative humidity was shown to significantly alter the detection efficiency of the PSM.

Paper II This paper presents a comparison of two independent methods to measure a size distribution of sub-3 nm neutral tungsten oxide particles. In order to do the measurement with the PSM, we probed the composition of the neutral tungsten oxide particles and measured how much the detection of charged 1.6 nm particles differs from the detection of neutral particles of the same size. To do the measurement with a combination of a high resolution DMA and an electrometer, we measured the transmission of the DMA and the charged fraction of the unipolar sample. The two methods exhibited a reasonably good agreement.

Paper III In this paper, with experiments and a model, we studied what is the smallest particle size that a conventional fine CPC can detect. The temperature difference between the saturator and condenser was set to the maximum that does not produce homogeneously nucleated background particles. The CPCs were able to detect charged particles as small as 1.5 nm, which has not been previously shown. We compared the results to two ultrafine CPCs and found a reasonable comparison. We conclude that the main disadvantage of the conventional CPCs in detecting the smallest particles is the internal losses.

Paper IV The fourth paper of this thesis presents an extensive set of experiments for the four of the best available sub-3 nm particle counters. We generated particles of seven different chemical compositions to verify the operation of the CPCs, and explored the composition dependency of the particle activation thoroughly. A strong composition dependency was found for activation of particles by DEG and water, whereas activation of particles by butanol seemed to be relatively independent on the composition of the particles. The results offer a basis to operate the CPCs as a part of a particle sizing system in field conditions, which could give insight into the composition of approximately 2 nm atmospheric particles.

Paper V Technical aspects of the PSM are considered in the fifth paper. We tested the operation of the PSM at low pressure conditions. The paper shows how the PSM can be operated as mixing type and laminar type CPC, as well as how the PSM is capable of

scanning size the of 1 to 6 nm particles by scanning the growth tube temperature. We described and characterized a new core sampling inlet line, which minimized the diffusion losses of the smallest particles in the sampling line of the PSM.

Author's contributions:

For paper I I did most of the experiments, all analysis with the help of coauthors and wrote the paper. In paper II I did the experiments together with my coauthors, all analysis and wrote the paper. For paper III I did the experiments together with my coauthors, my coauthors built the model, and I wrote the paper. The experiments and analysis for paper IV was done together with a coauthor, and I wrote the paper. For paper V I did all the experiments, analysis and wrote the paper, while my coauthors designed the inlet.

5 Conclusions

In this thesis we have improved the measurement of sub-3 nm particles in several ways. We built a high resolution closed sheath flow loop Herrmann type DMA setup. The flexible on-a-trolley DMA provided the basis of production of size selected sub-3 nm particles for all the experiments in the thesis. With the closed sheath flow loop, we explained the observed day-to-day variations in the PSM experiments, the reason of which was that the changing sample air water content changes the PSM activation efficiency.

With the help of the high resolution DMA and a mass spectrometer, we modified the operation of the tube furnace and wire generator for sub-3 nm particle generation with control over impurities. Impurities clustered with the sample particles, originating probably from the surface of the tube or the carrier gas, were found to lower the PSM detection efficiency significantly. Control over the test aerosol composition and sample flow relative humidity is the basis for a reproducible PSM calibration.

This thesis describes laboratory calibration methods, which are currently at a sufficient level for reliable instrument comparisons. However, a sound field calibration and operation of the PSM is still lacking due to the uncertainty in the composition of the nucleated atmospheric particles and varying ambient water content. One way to solve the problem, and in fact the best way, would be to conduct the calibration in the field with the nucleated ambient particles at the ambient relative humidity. Currently the field calibration of the PSM remains technologically very challenging. The PSM was shown to be able to operate in low pressure conditions, the biggest error in the detected concentration originating from the counting efficiency of the CPC.

The source of tungsten oxide particles, the wire generator, was found to be the most stable sub-3 nm particle generator tested in this thesis. The generator was characterized in depth, beginning from the formation mechanism of the self-charged particles. Probably heat induced OH- formation from impurities of the carrier gas allows OH- to cluster with neutral (WO_3)_x, giving negative charge for the neutral clusters. The positive self-charged clusters form by clustering with a positive ion formed from decomposition of organic impurities of the carrier gas. Based on the experiments, the neutral particles emitted by the wire are most probably clean tungsten oxide. Based on the source characterization and characterization of the response of the PSM for tungsten oxide particles, we compared two independent methods to measure neutral sub-3 nm size distributions. The agreement between the two methods, the PSM and the combination of a high resolution DMA and an electrometer, was fairly good.

All particle generators used in this thesis were utilized to verify the operation of a battery of four ultrafine CPCs. Strong particle composition dependency in the CPC cutoffs was found for water and DEG based CPCs, whereas the butanol CPC response seemed to be relatively independent on the particle composition. The measured cut-off diameters suggest that the most important factor determining nucleation probability, at a constant mobility diameter, is the particle surface. The second most important parameter is the condensing vapor composition, and most probably the effect of the charge is almost negligible compared with the other two parameters. Experiments of the paper II, however, show that the sign preference of heterogeneous nucleation requires an experimental revision by more throughout experiments with neutral size selected seeds. These results offer a basis for operating the battery of CPCs as a detector of a DMA. By looking at the differences at observed concentrations between different CPCs, one could obtain chemical information from particles of 2 to 3 nm in size. Finally, we showed how sub-3 nm particles can be detected with conventional fine CPCs. The performance of the fine CPCs in detecting the smallest sub-3 nm particles was found to be rather good compared to the ultrafine TSI 3776 and Airmodus A11. The results offer a tool for sub-3 nm particle detection to laboratories without an ultrafine CPC.

In this thesis, we have improved the sub-3 nm particle detection and generation in the laboratory conditions, and provided insight on the field operation of the PSM. Monitoring the chemical composition of the test particles and sample flow properties was found to be essential for obtaining reproducible results in laboratory experiments. On the other end, selecting a suitable CPC working fluid and a supersaturation was shown to be important when selecting a particle counter for a given experiment. The research of this thesis offer basic knowledge on the generation and detection of sub-3 nm particles.

References

Adachi, M., Okuyama, K., and Seinfeld, J. H.: Experimental Studies of Ion-Induced Nucleation, J Aerosol Sci, 23, 327-337, Doi 10.1016/0021-8502(92)90002-D, 1992.

Aitken, J.: On Dusts, Fogs and Clouds, Nature, Feb, 384-385, 1880a.

Aitken, J.: On Dusts, Fogs and Clouds, Proc. Roy. Soc., 11, 11-14, 1880b.

Almeida, J., Schobesberger, S., Kurten, A., Ortega, I. K., Kupiainen-Määttä, O., Praplan, A. P., Adamov, A., Amorim, A., Bianchi, F., Breitenlechner, M., David, A., Dommen, J., Donahue, N. M., Downard, A., Dunne, E., Duplissy, J., Ehrhart, S., Flagan, R. C., Franchin, A., Guida, R., Hakala, J., Hansel, A., Heinritzi, M., Henschel, H., Jokinen, T., Junninen, H., Kajos, M., Kangasluoma, J., Keskinen, H., Kupc, A., Kurten, T., Kvashin, A. N., Laaksonen, A., Lehtipalo, K., Leiminger, M., Leppä, J., Loukonen, V., Makhmutov, V., Mathot, S., McGrath, M. J., Nieminen, T., Olenius, T., Onnela, A., Petäjä, T., Riccobono, F., Riipinen, I., Rissanen, M., Rondo, L., Ruuskanen, T., Santos, F. D., Sarnela, N., Schallhart, S., Schnitzhofer, R., Seinfeld, J. H., Simon, M., Sipilä, M., Stozhkov, Y., Stratmann, F., Tome, A., Trostl, J., Tsagkogeorgas, G., Vaattovaara, P., Viisanen, Y., Virtanen, A., Vrtala, A., Wagner, P. E., Weingartner, E., Wex, H., Williamson, C., Wimmer, D., Ye, P. L., Yli-Juuti, T., Carslaw, K. S., Kulmala, M., Curtius, J., Baltensperger, U., Worsnop, D. R., Vehkamäki, H., and Kirkby, J.: Molecular understanding of sulphuric acid-amine particle nucleation in the atmosphere, Nature, 502, 359-+, Doi 10.1038/Nature12663, 2013.

Andreae, M. O., Rosenfeld, D., Artaxo, P., Costa, A. A., Frank, G. P., Longo, K. M., and Silva-Dias, M. A. F.: Smoking rain clouds over the Amazon, Science, 303, 1337-1342, DOI 10.1126/science.1092779, 2004.

Andreae, M. O., and Rosenfeld, D.: Aerosol-cloud-precipitation interactions. Part 1. The nature and sources of cloud-active aerosols, Earth-Science Reviews, 89, 13-41, DOI 10.1016/j.earscirev.2008.03.001, 2008.

Barnola, J., Raynaud, C., Lorius, N., and Barkov: Historical CO2 record from the Vostok ice core. In:. Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change., Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy. Oak Ridge, TN., 2003.

Bartz, H., Fissan, H., Helsper, C., Kousaka, Y., Okuyama, K., Fukushima, N., Keady, P. B., Kerrigan, S., Fruin, S. A., Mcmurry, P. H., Pui, D. Y. H., and Stolzenburg, M. R.: Response Characteristics for 4 Different Condensation Nucleus Counters to Particles in the 3-50 Nm Diameter Range, J Aerosol Sci, 16, 443-456, Doi 10.1016/0021-8502(85)90056-4, 1985.

Bartz, H., Fissan, H., and Liu, B. Y. H.: A New Generator for Ultrafine Aerosols Below 10-Nm, Aerosol Sci Tech, 6, 163-171, Doi 10.1080/02786828708959129, 1987.

Birmili, W., Stratmann, F., Wiedensohler, A., Covert, D., Russell, L. M., and Berg, O.: Determination of differential mobility analyzer transfer functions using identical instruments in series, Aerosol Sci Tech, 27, 215-223, Doi 10.1080/02786829708965468, 1997.

Bricard, J., Delattre, P., Madelaine, G., and Pourprix, M.: Detection of ultra-fine particles by means of a continuous flux condensation nuclei counter, Fine Particles, Academic Press, New York, 565-580, 1976.

Brunelli, N. A., Flagan, R. C., and Giapis, K. P.: Radial Differential Mobility Analyzer for One Nanometer Particle Classification, Aerosol Sci Tech, 43, 53-59, Doi 10.1080/02786820802464302, 2009.

Chen, Y. Y., Ebenstein, A., Greenstone, M., and Li, H. B.: Evidence on the impact of sustained exposure to air pollution on life expectancy from China's Huai River policy, P Natl Acad Sci USA, 110, 12936-12941, DOI 10.1073/pnas.1300018110, 2013.

Coulier, P. J.: Note sur une nouvelle propriete de l'air, J. de Pharmacie et de Chimie, Paris, Ser. 4, 22:165 - 173., 1875a.

Coulier, P. J.: Note sur une nouvelle propriete de l'air, J. de Pharmacie et de Chimie, Paris, Ser. 4, 22:254 - 255., 1875b.

de la Mora, J. F.: Heterogeneous Nucleation with Finite Activation Energy and Perfect Wetting: Capillary Theory Versus Experiments with Nanometer Particles, and Extrapolations on the Smallest Detectable Nucleus, Aerosol Sci Tech, 45, 543-554, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2010.550341, 2011.

de la Mora, J. F., and Kozlowski, J.: Hand-held differential mobility analyzers of high resolution for 1-30 nm particles: Design and fabrication considerations, J Aerosol Sci, 57, 45-53, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2012.10.009, 2013.

Ehn, M., Thornton, J. A., Kleist, E., Sipilä, M., Junninen, H., Pullinen, I., Springer, M., Rubach, F., Tillmann, R., Lee, B., Lopez-Hilfiker, F., Andres, S., Acir, I. H., Rissanen, M., Jokinen, T., Schobesberger, S., Kangasluoma, J., Kontkanen, J., Nieminen, T., Kurten, T., Nielsen, L. B., Jorgensen, S., Kjaergaard, H. G., Canagaratna, M., Maso, M. D., Berndt, T., Petäjä, T., Wahner, A., Kerminen, V. M., Kulmala, M., Worsnop, D. R., Wildt, J., and Mentel, T. F.: A large source of low-volatility secondary organic aerosol, Nature, 506, 476-479, 10.1038/nature13032, 2014.

Erikson, H. A.: The Change of Mobility of the Positive Ions in Air with Age, Phys. Rev., 18, 100-101, 1921.

Flagan, R. C.: History of electrical aerosol measurements, Aerosol Sci Tech, 28, 301-380, Doi 10.1080/02786829808965530, 1998.

Gamero-Castano, M., and de la Mora, J. F.: A condensation nucleus counter (CNC) sensitive to singly charged sub-nanometer particles, J Aerosol Sci, 31, 757-772, Doi 10.1016/S0021-8502(99)00555-8, 2000.

Giechaskiel, B., Wang, X., Gilliland, D., and Drossinos, Y.: The effect of particle chemical composition on the activation probability in n-butanol condensation particle counters, J Aerosol Sci, 42, 20-37, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2010.10.006, 2011.

Hansen, J., Sato, M., Kharecha, P., Russell, G., Lea, D. W., and Siddall, M.: Climate change and trace gases, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society a-Mathematical Physical and Engineering Sciences, 365, 1925-1954, DOI 10.1098/rsta.2007.2052, 2007.

Hering, S. V., Stolzenburg, M. R., Quant, F. R., Oberreit, D. R., and Keady, P. B.: A laminar-flow, water-based condensation particle counter (WCPC), Aerosol Sci Tech, 39, 659-672, Doi 10.1080/02786820500182123, 2005.

Hermann, M., and Wiedensohler, A.: Counting efficiency of condensation particle counters at low-pressures with illustrative data from the upper troposphere, J Aerosol Sci, 32, 975-991, Doi 10.1016/S0021-8502(01)00037-4, 2001.

Hermann, M., Wehner, B., Bischof, O., Han, H. S., Krinke, T., Liu, W., Zerrath, A., and Wiedensohler, A.: Particle counting efficiencies of new TSI condensation particle counters, J Aerosol Sci, 38, 674-682, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2007.05.001, 2007.

Herrmann, W., Eichler, T., Bernardo, N., and De la Mora, J. F.: Turbulent transition arises at reynolds number 35,000 in a short vienna type DMA with a large laminarization inlet., Abstract AAAR Conference, 15B5, 2000.

Hewitt, G. W.: The charging of small particles for electrostatic precipitation, American Institute of Electrical Engineers Transactions, 76, 300-306, 1957.

Hildemann, L. M., Markowski, G. R., and Cass, G. R.: Chemical-Composition of Emissions from Urban Sources of Fine Organic Aerosol, Environ Sci Technol, 25, 744-759, Doi 10.1021/Es00016a021, 1991.

Hogan, C. J., and de la Mora, J. F.: Tandem ion mobility-mass spectrometry (IMS-MS) study of ion evaporation from ionic liquid-acetonitrile nanodrops, Phys Chem Chem Phys, 11, 8079-8090, Doi 10.1039/B904022f, 2009.

Iida, K., Stolzenburg, M. R., McMurry, P. H., Smith, J. N., Quant, F. R., Oberreit, D. R., Keady, P. B., Eiguren-Fernandez, A., Lewis, G. S., Kreisberg, N. M., and Hering, S. V.: An ultrafine, water-based condensation particle counter and its evaluation under field conditions, Aerosol Sci Tech, 42, 862-871, Doi 10.1080/02786820802339579, 2008.

Iida, K., Stolzenburg, M. R., and McMurry, P. H.: Effect of Working Fluid on Sub-2 nm Particle Detection with a Laminar Flow Ultrafine Condensation Particle Counter, Aerosol Sci Tech, 43, 81-96, Doi 10.1080/02786820802488194, 2009.

IPCC: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change,

Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1-32., 2014.

Ito, E., Seto, T., Otani, Y., and Sakurai, H.: Nucleation of Ethylene Glycol Vapor and Growth of Sub-10-nm Particles in Nanoparticle Size Magnifier, Aerosol Sci Tech, 45, 1250-1259, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2011.589481, 2011.

Jiang, J. K., Chen, M. D., Kuang, C. A., Attoui, M., and McMurry, P. H.: Electrical Mobility Spectrometer Using a Diethylene Glycol Condensation Particle Counter for Measurement of Aerosol Size Distributions Down to 1 nm, Aerosol Sci Tech, 45, 510-521, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2010.547538, 2011a.

Jiang, J. K., Zhao, J., Chen, M. D., Eisele, F. L., Scheckman, J., Williams, B. J., Kuang, C. A., and McMurry, P. H.: First Measurements of Neutral Atmospheric Cluster and 1-2 nm Particle Number Size Distributions During Nucleation Events, Aerosol Sci Tech, 45, Ii-V, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2010.546817, 2011b.

Jokinen, V., and Mäkelä, J. M.: Closed-loop arrangement with critical orifice for DMA sheath excess flow system, J Aerosol Sci, 28, 643-648, Doi 10.1016/S0021-8502(96)00457-0, 1997.

Junninen, H., Ehn, M., Petäjä, T., Luosujärvi, L., Kotiaho, T., Kostiainen, R., Rohner, U., Gonin, M., Fuhrer, K., Kulmala, M., and Worsnop, D. R.: A high-resolution mass spectrometer to measure atmospheric ion composition, Atmos Meas Tech, 3, 1039-1053, DOI 10.5194/amt-3-1039-2010, 2010.

Kangasluoma, J., Junninen, H., Lehtipalo, K., Mikkilä, J., Vanhanen, J., Attoui, M., Sipilä, M., Worsnop, D., Kulmala, M., and Petäjä, T.: Remarks on Ion Generation for CPC Detection Efficiency Studies in Sub-3-nm Size Range, Aerosol Sci Tech, 47, 556-563, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2013.773393, 2013.

Kangasluoma, J., Kuang, C., Wimmer, D., Rissanen, M. P., Lehtipalo, K., Ehn, M., Worsnop, D. R., Wang, J., Kulmala, M., and Petäjä, T.: Sub-3 nm particle size and composition dependent response of a nano-CPC battery, Atmos Meas Tech, 7, 689-700, DOI 10.5194/amt-7-689-2014, 2014.

Kangasluoma, J., Ahonen, L., Attoui, M., Vuollekoski, H., Kulmala, M., and Petäjä, T.: Sub-3 nm Particle Detection with Commercial TSI 3772 and Airmodus A20 Fine Condensation Particle Counters, Aerosol Sci Tech, In press, 2015a.

Kangasluoma, J., Attoui, M., Junninen, H., Lehtipalo, K., Samodurov, A., Korhonen, F., Sarnela, N., Schmidt-Ott, A., Worsnop, D., Kulmala, M., and Petäjä, T.: Sizing of neutral sub 3 nm tungsten oxide clusters using Airmodus Particle Size Magnifier, J Aerosol Sci, 87, 53-62, 2015b.

Kangasluoma, J., Franchin, A., Duplissy, J., Ahonen, L., Korhonen, F., Attoui, M., Mikkilä, J., Lehtipalo, K., Vanhanen, J., Kulmala, M., and Petäjä, T.: Operation of the Airmodus A11 nano Condensation Nucleus Counter at various inlet pressures, various

operation temperatures and design of a new inlet system, Atmospheric measurement Techniques Discussions, 8, 8483–8508, 2015c.

Kesten, J., Reineking, A., and Porstendorfer, J.: Calibration of a TSI Model 3025 Ultrafine Condensation Particle Counter, Aerosol Sci Tech, 15, 107-111, Doi 10.1080/02786829108959517, 1991.

Kim, Okuyama, K., and Shimada, M.: Performance of a mixing-type CNC for nanoparticles at low-pressure conditions, J Aerosol Sci, 33, 1389-1404, Pii S0021-8502(02)00092-7 Doi 10.1016/S0021-8502(02)00092-7, 2002.

Kim, Okuyama, K., and de la Mora, J. F.: Performance evaluation of an improved particle size magnifier (PSM) for single nanoparticle detection, Aerosol Sci Tech, 37, 791-803, Doi 10.1080/02786820390222199, 2003.

Kim, Iida, K., Kuromiya, Y., Seto, T., Higashi, H., and Otani, Y.: Effect of Nucleation Temperature on Detecting Molecular Ions and Charged Nanoparticles with a Diethylene Glycol-Based Particle Size Magnifier, Aerosol Sci Tech, 49, 35-44, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2014.989954, 2015.

Kirkby, J., Curtius, J., Almeida, J., Dunne, E., Duplissy, J., Ehrhart, S., Franchin, A., Gagne, S., Ickes, L., Kurten, A., Kupc, A., Metzger, A., Riccobono, F., Rondo, L., Schobesberger, S., Tsagkogeorgas, G., Wimmer, D., Amorim, A., Bianchi, F., Breitenlechner, M., David, A., Dommen, J., Downard, A., Ehn, M., Flagan, R. C., Haider, S., Hansel, A., Hauser, D., Jud, W., Junninen, H., Kreissl, F., Kvashin, A., Laaksonen, A., Lehtipalo, K., Lima, J., Lovejoy, E. R., Makhmutov, V., Mathot, S., Mikkilä, J., Minginette, P., Mogo, S., Nieminen, T., Onnela, A., Pereira, P., Petäjä, T., Schnitzhofer, R., Seinfeld, J. H., Sipilä, M., Stozhkov, Y., Stratmann, F., Tome, A., Vanhanen, J., Viisanen, Y., Vrtala, A., Wagner, P. E., Walther, H., Weingartner, E., Wex, H., Winkler, P. M., Carslaw, K. S., Worsnop, D. R., Baltensperger, U., and Kulmala, M.: Role of sulphuric acid, ammonia and galactic cosmic rays in atmospheric aerosol nucleation, Nature, 476, 429-U477, Doi 10.1038/Nature10343, 2011.

Kivekas, N., Sun, J., Zhan, M., Kerminen, V. M., Hyvarinen, A., Komppula, M., Viisanen, Y., Hong, N., Zhang, Y., Kulmala, M., Zhang, X. C., Deli-Geer, and Lihavainen, H.: Long term particle size distribution measurements at Mount Waliguan, a high-altitude site in inland China, Atmos Chem Phys, 9, 5461-5474, 2009.

Kleeman, M. J., Schauer, J. J., and Cass, G. R.: Size and composition distribution of fine particulate matter emitted from wood burning, meat charbroiling, and cigarettes, Environ Sci Technol, 33, 3516-3523, Doi 10.1021/Es981277q, 1999.

Knutson, E., and Whitby, K.: Aerosol classification by electric mobility: apparatus, theory, and applications, J Aerosol Sci, 6, 443-451, 1975.

Kogan, Y. I., and Burnasheva, Z. A.: Growth and Measurement of Condensation Nuclei in a Continuous Stream, Zhurnal Fizicheskoi Khimii, 34, 2630-2639, 1960.

Koulouri, E., Saarikoski, S., Theodosi, C., Markaki, Z., Gerasopoulos, E., Kouvarakis, G., Mäkelä, T., Hillamo, R., and Mihalopoulos, N.: Chemical composition and sources of fine and coarse aerosol particles in the Eastern Mediterranean, Atmos Environ, 42, 6542-6550, DOI 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.04.010, 2008.

Kousaka, Y., Niida, T., Okuyama, K., and Tanaka, H.: Development of a Mixing Type Condensation Nucleus Counter, J Aerosol Sci, 13, 231-240, Doi 10.1016/0021-8502(82)90064-7, 1982.

Kuang, C., McMurry, P. H., McCormick, A. V., and Eisele, F. L.: Dependence of nucleation rates on sulfuric acid vapor concentration in diverse atmospheric locations, J Geophys Res-Atmos, 113, Artn D10209 Doi 10.1029/2007jd009253, 2008.

Kuang, C., Chen, M. D., McMurry, P. H., and Wang, J.: Modification of Laminar Flow Ultrafine Condensation Particle Counters for the Enhanced Detection of 1 nm Condensation Nuclei, Aerosol Sci Tech, 46, 309-315, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2011.626815, 2012.

Kulmala, M., Vehkamäki, H., Petäjä, T., Dal Maso, M., Lauri, A., Kerminen, V. M., Birmili, W., and McMurry, P. H.: Formation and growth rates of ultrafine atmospheric particles: a review of observations, J Aerosol Sci, 35, 143-176, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2003.10.003, 2004.

Kulmala, M., Mordas, G., Petäjä, T., Grönholm, T., Aalto, P. P., Vehkamäki, H., Hienola, A. I., Herrmann, E., Sipilä, M., Riipinen, I., Manninen, H. E., Hämeri, K., Stratmann, F., Bilde, M., Winkler, P. M., Birmili, W., and Wagner, P. E.: The condensation particle counter battery (CPCB): A new tool to investigate the activation properties of nanoparticles, J Aerosol Sci, 38, 289-304, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2006.11.008, 2007a.

Kulmala, M., Riipinen, I., Sipilä, M., Manninen, H. E., Petäjä, T., Junninen, H., Dal Maso, M., Mordas, G., Mirme, A., Vana, M., Hirsikko, A., Laakso, L., Harrison, R. M., Hanson, I., Leung, C., Lehtinen, K. E. J., and Kerminen, V. M.: Toward direct measurement of atmospheric nucleation, Science, 318, 89-92, DOI 10.1126/science.1144124, 2007b.

Kulmala, M., Petäjä, T., Nieminen, T., Sipilä, M., Manninen, H. E., Lehtipalo, K., Dal Maso, M., Aalto, P. P., Junninen, H., Paasonen, P., Riipinen, I., Lehtinen, K. E. J., Laaksonen, A., and Kerminen, V. M.: Measurement of the nucleation of atmospheric aerosol particles, Nat Protoc, 7, 1651-1667, DOI 10.1038/nprot.2012.091, 2012.

Kulmala, M., Kontkanen, J., Junninen, H., Lehtipalo, K., Manninen, H. E., Nieminen, T., Petäjä, T., Sipilä, M., Schobesberger, S., Rantala, P., Franchin, A., Jokinen, T., Järvinen, E., Äijalä, M., Kangasluoma, J., Hakala, J., Aalto, P. P., Paasonen, P., Mikkilä, J., Vanhanen, J., Aalto, J., Hakola, H., Makkonen, U., Ruuskanen, T., Mauldin, R. L., Duplissy, J., Vehkamäki, H., Bäck, J., Kortelainen, A., Riipinen, I., Kurten, T., Johnston, M. V., Smith, J. N., Ehn, M., Mentel, T. F., Lehtinen, K. E. J., Laaksonen, A., Kerminen, V. M., and Worsnop, D. R.: Direct Observations of Atmospheric Aerosol Nucleation, Science, 339, 943-946, DOI 10.1126/science.1227385, 2013.

Kupc, A., Winkler, P. M., Vrtala, A., and Wagner, P.: Unusual Temperature Dependence of Heterogeneous Nucleation of Water Vapor on Ag Particles, Aerosol Sci Tech, 47, I-Iv, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2013.810330, 2013.

Kurten, A., Curtius, J., Nillius, B., and Borrmann, S.: Characterization of an automated, water-based expansion condensation nucleus counter for ultrafine particles, Aerosol Sci Tech, 39, 1174-1183, Doi 10.1080/02786820500431355, 2005.

Laaksonen, A., Hamed, A., Joutsensaari, J., Hiltunen, L., Cavalli, F., Junkermann, W., Asmi, A., Fuzzi, S., and Facchini, M. C.: Cloud condensation nucleus production from nucleation events at a highly polluted region, Geophys Res Lett, 32, Artn L06812 Doi 10.1029/2004gl022092, 2005.

Larriba, C., Hogan, C. J., Attoui, M., Borrajo, R., Garcia, J. F., and de la Mora, J. F.: The Mobility-Volume Relationship below 3.0 nm Examined by Tandem Mobility-Mass Measurement, Aerosol Sci Tech, 45, 453-467, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2010.546820, 2011.

Lehtipalo, K., Leppä, J., Kontkanen, J., Kangasluoma, J., Franchin, A., Wimnner, D., Schobesberger, S., Junninen, H., Petäjä, T., Sipilä, M., Mikkilä, J., Vanhanen, J., Worsnop, D. R., and Kulmala, M.: Methods for determining particle size distribution and growth rates between 1 and 3 nm using the Particle Size Magnifier, Boreal Environ Res, 19, 215-236, 2014.

Liu, B., and Kim, C. S.: On the counting efficiency of condensation nuclei counters, Atmos Environ, 11, 1097-1100, 1977.

Liu, B. Y. H., Whitby, K. T., and Pui, D. Y. H.: Portable Electrical Analyzer for Size Distribution Measurement of Submicron Aerosols, Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association, 24, 1067-1072, 1974.

Lovejoy, E. R., Curtius, J., and Froyd, K. D.: Atmospheric ion-induced nucleation of sulfuric acid and water, J Geophys Res-Atmos, 109, Artn D08204 Doi 10.1029/2003jd004460, 2004.

Manninen, H. E., Petäjä, T., Asmi, E., Riipinen, I., Nieminen, T., Mikkilä, J., Hörrak, U., Mirme, A., Mirme, S., Laakso, L., Kerminen, V. M., and Kulmala, M.: Long-term field measurements of charged and neutral clusters using Neutral cluster and Air Ion Spectrometer (NAIS), Boreal Environ Res, 14, 591-605, 2009.

Mavliev, R., and Wang, H. C.: Design and performance characteristics of a turbulent mixing condensation nuclei counter, J Aerosol Sci, 31, 933-944, Doi 10.1016/S0021-8502(99)00566-2, 2000.

Mavliev, R.: Turbulent mixing condensation nucleus counter, Atmos Res, 62, 303-314, Pii S0169-8095(02)00016-9 Doi 10.1016/S0169-8095(02)00016-9, 2002.

McCormick, M. P., Thomason, L. W., and Trepte, C. R.: Atmospheric Effects of the Mt-Pinatubo Eruption, Nature, 373, 399-404, Doi 10.1038/373399a0, 1995. McDermott, W. T., Ockovic, R. C., and Stolzenburg, M. R.: Counting Efficiency of an Improved 30-a Condensation Nucleus Counter, Aerosol Sci Tech, 14, 278-287, Doi 10.1080/02786829108959490, 1991.

McMurry, P. H.: The history of condensation nucleus counters, Aerosol Sci Tech, 33, 297-322, Doi 10.1080/02786820050121512, 2000a.

McMurry, P. H.: A review of atmospheric aerosol measurements, Atmos Environ, 34, 1959-1999, Doi 10.1016/S1352-2310(99)00455-0, 2000b.

Mertes, S., Schroder, F., and Wiedensohler, A.: The Particle-Detection Efficiency Curve of the Tsi-3010 Cpc as a Function of the Temperature Difference between Saturator and Condenser, Aerosol Sci Tech, 23, 257-261, Doi 10.1080/02786829508965310, 1995.

Minikin, A., Petzold, A., Ström, J., Krejci, R., Seifert, M., van Velthoven, P., Schlager, H., and Schumann, U.: Aircraft observations of the upper tropospheric fine particle aerosol in the Northern and Southern Hemispheres at midlatitudes, Geophys Res Lett, 30, Artn 1503 Doi 10.1029/2002gl016458, 2003.

Mordas, G., Kulmala, M., Petäjä, T., Aalto, P. P., Matulevicius, V., Grigoraitis, V., Ulevicius, V., Grauslys, V., Ukkonen, A., and Hämeri, K.: Design and performance characteristics of a condensation particle counter UF-02proto, Boreal Environ Res, 10, 543-552, 2005.

Mordas, G., Manninen, H. E., Petäjä, T., Aalto, P. P., Hämeri, K., and Kulmala, M.: On operation of the ultra-fine water-based CPC TSI3786 and comparison with other TSI models (TSI3776, TSI3772, TSI3025, TSI3010, TSI3007), Aerosol Sci Tech, 42, 152-158, Doi 10.1080/02786820701846252, 2008.

O'Dowd, C. D., Aalto, P. P., Yoon, Y. J., and Hämeri, K.: The use of the pulse height analyser ultrafine condensation particle counter (PHA-UCPC) technique applied to sizing of nucleation mode particles of differing chemical composition, J Aerosol Sci, 35, 205-216, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2003.08.003, 2004.

Okuyama, K., Kousaka, Y., and Motouchi, T.: Condensational Growth of Ultrafine Aerosol-Particles in a New Particle-Size Magnifier, Aerosol Sci Tech, 3, 353-366, Doi 10.1080/02786828408959024, 1984.

Okuyama, K., Adachi, M., Shinagawa, H., Shi, G., and Seinfeld, J. H.: Experimental-Study of Nucleation on Ions with Dbp Vapor, J Aerosol Sci, 22, S85-S88, Doi 10.1016/S0021-8502(05)80040-0, 1991.

Peineke, C., Attoui, M. B., and Schmidt-Ott, A.: Using a glowing wire generator for production of charged, uniformly sized nanoparticles at high concentrations, J Aerosol Sci, 37, 1651-1661, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2006.06.006, 2006.

Peineke, C., and Schmidt-Ott, A.: Explanation of charged nanoparticle production from hot surfaces, J Aerosol Sci, 39, 244-252, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2007.12.004, 2008.

Petäjä, T., Mordas, G., Manninen, H., Aalto, P. P., Hämeri, K., and Kulmala, M.: Detection efficiency of a water-based TSI Condensation Particle Counter 3785, Aerosol Sci Tech, 40, 1090-1097, Doi 10.1080/02786820600979139, 2006.

Pinterich, T.: Development of a Mobile Multi-Channel Size Analyzing Nuclei Counter (MCSANC) as reference instrument for aerosol and ion analysis, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Vienna, 2015.

Pollak, L. W., and Daly, J.: A condensation nucleus counter with stereo photomicrograph recording, Geofis. Pura Appl., 36, 27-34, 1957.

Porstendörfer, J., and Soderholm, S. C.: Particle size dependence of a condensation nuclei counter, Atmos Environ, 12, 1805-1806, 1978.

Pöschl, U., Martin, S. T., Sinha, B., Chen, Q., Gunthe, S. S., Huffman, J. A., Borrmann, S., Farmer, D. K., Garland, R. M., Helas, G., Jimenez, J. L., King, S. M., Manzi, A., Mikhailov, E., Pauliquevis, T., Petters, M. D., Prenni, A. J., Roldin, P., Rose, D., Schneider, J., Su, H., Zorn, S. R., Artaxo, P., and Andreae, M. O.: Rainforest Aerosols as Biogenic Nuclei of Clouds and Precipitation in the Amazon, Science, 329, 1513-1516, DOI 10.1126/science.1191056, 2010.

Quant, F. R., Caldow, R., Sem, G. J., and Addison, T. J.: Performance of condensation particle counters with three continuous-flow designs, J Aerosol Sci, 23, 405-408, 1992.

Riccobono, F., Schobesberger, S., Scott, C. E., Dommen, J., Ortega, I. K., Rondo, L., Almeida, J., Amorim, A., Bianchi, F., Breitenlechner, M., David, A., Downard, A., Dunne, E. M., Duplissy, J., Ehrhart, S., Flagan, R. C., Franchin, A., Hansel, A., Junninen, H., Kajos, M., Keskinen, H., Kupc, A., Kurten, A., Kvashin, A. N., Laaksonen, A., Lehtipalo, K., Makhmutov, V., Mathot, S., Nieminen, T., Onnela, A., Petäjä, T., Praplan, A. P., Santos, F. D., Schallhart, S., Seinfeld, J. H., Sipilä, M., Spracklen, D. V., Stozhkov, Y., Stratmann, F., Tome, A., Tsagkogeorgas, G., Vaattovaara, P., Viisanen, Y., Vrtala, A., Wagner, P. E., Weingartner, E., Wex, H., Wimmer, D., Carslaw, K. S., Curtius, J., Donahue, N. M., Kirkby, J., Kulmala, M., Worsnop, D. R., and Baltensperger, U.: Oxidation products of biogenic emissions contribute to nucleation of atmospheric particles, Science, 344, 717-721, 10.1126/science.1243527, 2014.

Santos, J. P., Hontanon, E., Ramiro, E., and Alonso, M.: Performance evaluation of a high-resolution parallel-plate differential mobility analyzer, Atmos Chem Phys, 9, 2419-2429, 2009.

Saros, M. T., Weber, R. J., Marti, J. J., and McMurry, P. H.: Ultrafine aerosol measurement using a condensation nucleus counter with pulse height analysis, Aerosol Sci Tech, 25, 200-213, Doi 10.1080/02786829608965391, 1996.

Scheibel, H. G., and Porstendörfer, J.: Generation of monodisperse Ag- and NaCl-aerosols with particle diameters between 2 and 300 nm, J Aerosol Sci, 14, 113-126, 1983.

Scheibel, H. G., and Porstendorfer, J.: Counting Efficiency and Detection Limit of Condensation Nuclei Counters for Submicrometer Aerosols .2. Measurements with Monodisperse Hydrophobic Ag and Hygroscopic Nacl Aerosols with Particle Diameters between 2 and 100 Nm, J Colloid Interf Sci, 109, 275-291, Doi 10.1016/0021-9797(86)90302-4, 1986.

Schmidt-Ott, A., Schurtenberger, P., and Siegmann, H. C.: Enormous Yield of Photoelectrons from Small Particles, Physical Review Letters, 45, 1284-1287, DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.45.1284, 1980.

Schobesberger, S., Junninen, H., Bianchi, F., Lönn, G., Ehn, M., Lehtipalo, K., Dommen, J., Ehrhart, S., Ortega, I. K., Franchin, A., Nieminen, T., Riccobono, F., Hutterli, M., Duplissy, J., Almeida, J., Amorim, A., Breitenlechner, M., Downard, A. J., Dunne, E. M., Flagan, R. C., Kajos, M., Keskinen, H., Kirkby, J., Kupc, A., Kurten, A., Kurten, T., Laaksonen, A., Mathot, S., Onnela, A., Praplan, A. P., Rondo, L., Santos, F. D., Schallhart, S., Schnitzhofer, R., Sipilä, M., Tome, A., Tsagkogeorgas, G., Vehkamäki, H., Wimmer, D., Baltensperger, U., Carslaw, K. S., Curtius, J., Hansel, A., Petäjä, T., Kulmala, M., Donahue, N. M., and Worsnop, D. R.: Molecular understanding of atmospheric particle formation from sulfuric acid and large oxidized organic molecules, P Natl Acad Sci USA, 110, 17223-17228, DOI 10.1073/pnas.1306973110, 2013a.

Schobesberger, S., Väänänen, R., Leino, K., Virkkula, A., Backman, J., Pohja, T., Siivola, E., Franchin, A., Mikkilä, J., Paramonov, M., Aalto, P. P., Krejci, R., Petäjä, T., and Kulmala, M.: Airborne measurements over the boreal forest of southern Finland during new particle formation events in 2009 and 2010, Boreal Environ Res, 18, 145-163, 2013b.

Sem, G. J.: Design and performance characteristics of three continuous-flow condensation particle counters: a summary, Atmos Res, 62, 267-294, Pii S0169-8095(02)00014-5 Doi 10.1016/S0169-8095(02)00014-5, 2002.

Seto, T., Okuyama, K., de Juan, L., and de la Mora, J. F.: Condensation of supersaturated vapors on monovalent and divalent ions on varying size, J Chem Phys, 107, 1576-1585, Doi 10.1063/1.474510, 1997.

Sgro, L. A., and de la Mora, J. F.: A simple turbulent mixing CNC for charged particle detection down to 1.2 nm, Aerosol Sci Tech, 38, 1-11, Doi 10.1080/02786820490247560, 2004.

Sipilä, M., Lehtipalo, K., Kulmala, M., Petäjä, T., Junninen, H., Aalto, P. P., Manninen, H. E., Kyrö, E. M., Asmi, E., Riipinen, I., Curtius, J., Kurten, A., Borrmann, S., and O'Dowd, C. D.: Applicability of condensation particle counters to measure atmospheric clusters, Atmos Chem Phys, 8, 4049-4060, 2008.

Sipilä, M., Lehtipalo, K., Attoui, M., Neitola, K., Petäjä, T., Aalto, P. P., O'Dowd, C. D., and Kulmala, M.: Laboratory Verification of PH-CPC's Ability to Monitor Atmospheric Sub-3 nm Clusters, Aerosol Sci Tech, 43, 126-135, Doi 10.1080/02786820802506227, 2009.

Sipilä, M., Berndt, T., Petäjä, T., Brus, D., Vanhanen, J., Stratmann, F., Patokoski, J., Mauldin, R. L., Hyvärinen, A. P., Lihavainen, H., and Kulmala, M.: The Role of Sulfuric Acid in Atmospheric Nucleation, Science, 327, 1243-1246, DOI 10.1126/science.1180315, 2010.

Spracklen, D. V., Carslaw, K. S., Merikanto, J., Mann, G. W., Reddington, C. L., Pickering, S., Ogren, J. A., Andrews, E., Baltensperger, U., Weingartner, E., Boy, M., Kulmala, M., Laakso, L., Lihavainen, H., Kivekas, N., Komppula, M., Mihalopoulos, N., Kouvarakis, G., Jennings, S. G., O'Dowd, C., Birmili, W., Wiedensohler, A., Weller, R., Gras, J., Laj, P., Sellegri, K., Bonn, B., Krejci, R., Laaksonen, A., Hamed, A., Minikin, A., Harrison, R. M., Talbot, R., and Sun, J.: Explaining global surface aerosol number concentrations in terms of primary emissions and particle formation, Atmos Chem Phys, 10, 4775-4793, DOI 10.5194/acp-10-4775-2010, 2010.

Spurny, K. R.: Atmospheric condensation nuclei P. J. Coulier 1875 and J. Aitken 1880 (historical review), Aerosol Sci Tech, 32, 243-248, Doi 10.1080/027868200303777, 2000.

Steffen, W., Crutzen, P. J., and McNeill, J. R.: The Anthropocene: Are humans now overwhelming the great forces of nature, Ambio, 36, 614-621, Doi 10.1579/0044-7447(2007)36[614:Taahno]2.0.Co;2, 2007.

Steiner, G., Attoui, M., Wimmer, D., and Reischl, G. P.: A Medium Flow, High-Resolution Vienna DMA Running in Recirculating Mode, Aerosol Sci Tech, 44, 308-315, Doi 10.1080/02786821003636763, 2010.

Stolzenburg, M.: An ultrafine aerosol size distribution measuring system, Ph.D. Thesis, Mechanical Engineering Department, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, 1988.

Stolzenburg, M. R., and McMurry, P. H.: An Ultrafine Aerosol Condensation Nucleus Counter, Aerosol Sci Tech, 14, 48-65, Doi 10.1080/02786829108959470, 1991.

Stolzenburg, M. R., and McMurry, P. H.: Equations governing single and tandem DMA configurations and a new lognormal approximation to the transfer function, Aerosol Sci Tech, 42, 421-432, Doi 10.1080/02786820802157823, 2008.

Thomson, J. J., and Rutherford, E.: On the Passage of Electricity through Gases Exposed to Röngten Rays, Phil. Mag., 42, 1896.

Thomson, W.: On the equilibrium of vapour at a curved surface of liquid, Philosophical Magazine, Series 4, 448-452, 1871.

Ude, S., and de la Mora, J. F.: Molecular monodisperse mobility and mass standards from electrosprays of tetra-alkyl ammonium halides, J Aerosol Sci, 36, 1224-1237, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2005.02.009, 2005.

Vanhanen, J., Mikkilä, J., Lehtipalo, K., Sipilä, M., Manninen, H. E., Siivola, E., Petäjä, T., and Kulmala, M.: Particle Size Magnifier for Nano-CN Detection, Aerosol Sci Tech, 45, 533-542, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2010.547889, 2011.

Wagner, P. E.: A Constant-Angle Mie Scattering Method (Cams) for Investigation of Particle Formation Processes, J Colloid Interf Sci, 105, 456-467, Doi 10.1016/0021-9797(85)90319-4, 1985.

Wang, McNeill, V. F., Collins, D. R., and Flagan, R. C.: Fast mixing condensation nucleus counter: Application to rapid scanning differential mobility analyzer measurements, Aerosol Sci Tech, 36, 678-689, Doi 10.1080/02786820290038366, 2002.

Wang, Y., Zhuang, G. S., Tang, A. H., Yuan, H., Sun, Y. L., Chen, S. A., and Zheng, A. H.: The ion chemistry and the source of PM2.5 aerosol in Beijing, Atmos Environ, 39, 3771-3784, DOI 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.03.013, 2005.

Weber, R. J., Stolzenburg, M. R., Pandis, S. N., and McMurry, P. H.: Inversion of ultrafine condensation nucleus counter pulse height distributions to obtain nanoparticle (similar to 3-10 nm) size distributions, J Aerosol Sci, 29, 601-615, Doi 10.1016/S0021-8502(97)10026-X, 1998.

Weckwerth, G.: Verification of traffic emitted aerosol components in the ambient air of Cologne (Germany), Atmos Environ, 35, 5525-5536, Doi 10.1016/S1352-2310(01)00234-5, 2001.

Whitby, K. T.: Electrical Aerosol Particle Counting and Size Distribution Measuring System for the 0.015 to 1 u Size range, Tellus, 18, 573-586, 1966.

Wiedensohler, A., Aalto, P., Covert, D., Heintzenberg, J., and Mcmurry, P. H.: Intercomparison of 4 Methods to Determine Size Distributions of Low-Concentration (Similar-to-100 Cm-3), Ultrafine Aerosols (3-Less-Than-D(P)Less-Than-10 Nm) with Illustrative Data from the Arctic, Aerosol Sci Tech, 21, 95-109, Doi 10.1080/02786829408959700, 1994.

Wiedensohler, A., Orsini, D., Covert, D. S., Coffmann, D., Cantrell, W., Havlicek, M., Brechtel, F. J., Russell, L. M., Weber, R. J., Gras, J., Hudson, J. G., and Litchy, M.: Intercomparison study of the size-dependent counting efficiency of 26 condensation particle counters, Aerosol Sci Tech, 27, 224-242, Doi 10.1080/02786829708965469, 1997.

Wilson, C. T. R.: Condensation of Water Vapour in the Presence of Dust-Free Air and other Gases, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., 61, 240-242, 1897.

Wilson, J. C., Blackshear, E. D., and Hyun, J. H.: An Improved Continuous-Flow Condensation Nucleus Counter for Use in the Stratosphere, J Aerosol Sci, 14, 387-391, Doi 10.1016/0021-8502(83)90143-X, 1983.

Wimmer, D., Lehtipalo, K., Franchin, A., Kangasluoma, J., Kreissl, F., Kurten, A., Kupc, A., Metzger, A., Mikkilä, J., Petäjä, T., Riccobono, F., Vanhanen, J., Kulmala, M., and Curtius, J.: Performance of diethylene glycol-based particle counters in the sub-3 nm size range, Atmos Meas Tech, 6, 1793-1804, DOI 10.5194/amt-6-1793-2013, 2013.

Winkler, P. M., Steiner, G., Vrtala, A., Vehkamäki, H., Noppel, M., Lehtinen, K. E. J., Reischl, G. P., Wagner, P. E., and Kulmala, M.: Heterogeneous nucleation experiments bridging the scale from molecular ion clusters to nanoparticles, Science, 319, 1374-1377, DOI 10.1126/science.1149034, 2008a.

Winkler, P. M., Vrtala, A., and Wagner, P. E.: Condensation particle counting below 2 nm seed particle diameter and the transition from heterogeneous to homogeneous nucleation, Atmos Res, 90, 125-131, DOI 10.1016/j.atmosres.2008.01.001, 2008b.

Winkler, P. M., Steiner, G., Vrtala, A., Reischl, G. P., Kulmala, M., and Wagner, P. E.: Unary and Binary Heterogeneous Nucleation of Organic Vapors on Monodisperse WOx Seed Particles with Diameters Down to 1.4 nm, Aerosol Sci Tech, 45, 493-498, Doi 10.1080/02786826.2010.547536, 2011.

Winkler, P. M., Vrtala, A., Steiner, G., Wimmer, D., Vehkamäki, H., Lehtinen, K. E. J., Reischl, G. P., Kulmala, M., and Wagner, P. E.: Quantitative Characterization of Critical Nanoclusters Nucleated on Large Single Molecules, Physical Review Letters, 108, Artn 085701

Doi 10.1103/Physrevlett.108.085701, 2012.

Winklmayr, W., Reischl, G. P., Lindner, A. O., and Berner, A.: A New Electromobility Spectrometer for the Measurement of Aerosol Size Distributions in the Size Range from 1 to 1000 Nm, J Aerosol Sci, 22, 289-296, Doi 10.1016/S0021-8502(05)80007-2, 1991.

Yli-Ojanperä, J., Mäkelä, J. M., Marjamäki, M., Rostedt, A., and Keskinen, J.: Towards traceable particle number concentration standard: Single charged aerosol reference (SCAR), J Aerosol Sci, 41, 719-728, DOI 10.1016/j.jaerosci.2010.04.012, 2010.

Yu, F. Q.: Ion-mediated nucleation in the atmosphere: Key controlling parameters, implications, and look-up table, J Geophys Res-Atmos, 115, Artn D03206 Doi 10.1029/2009jd012630, 2010.

Yu, H., McGraw, R., and Lee, S. H.: Effects of amines on formation of sub-3 nm particles and their subsequent growth, Geophys Res Lett, 39, Artn L02807 Doi 10.1029/2011gl050099, 2012.

Zeleny, J.: On the Ratio of the Velocities of the Two Ions Produced in Gases by Rontgen Radiation; and on Some Related Phenomena, Phil. Mag., 46, 1898.

Zeleny, J.: The Velocity of the Ions Produced in Gases by Röntgen Rays, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. A., 195, 193-234, 1900.

Zhang, S. H., Akutsu, Y., Russell, L. M., Flagan, R. C., and Seinfeld, J. H.: Radial Differential Mobility Analyzer, Aerosol Sci Tech, 23, 357-372, Doi 10.1080/02786829508965320, 1995.

Zhang, Z. Q., and Liu, B. Y. H.: Dependence of the Performance of Tsi 3020 Condensation Nucleus Counter on Pressure, Flow-Rate, and Temperature, Aerosol Sci Tech, 13, 493-504, Doi 10.1080/02786829008959464, 1990.